Screening Assessment for the Challenge

Benzene, 1-chloro-2-[2,2-dichloro-1-(4chlorophenyl)ethyl]-(Mitotane)

Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number 53-19-0

Environment and Climate Change Canada Health Canada

October 2017



Cat. No.: En14-284/2017E-PDF ISBN 978-0-660-09676-6

Information contained in this publication or product may be reproduced, in part or in whole, and by any means, for personal or public non-commercial purposes, without charge or further permission, unless otherwise specified.

You are asked to:

- Exercise due diligence in ensuring the accuracy of the materials reproduced;
- Indicate both the complete title of the materials reproduced, as well as the author organization; and
- Indicate that the reproduction is a copy of an official work that is published
 by the Government of Canada and that the reproduction has not been
 produced in affiliation with or with the endorsement of the Government of
 Canada.

Commercial reproduction and distribution is prohibited except with written permission from the author. For more information, please contact Environment and Climate Change Canada's Inquiry Centre at 1-800-668-6767 (in Canada only) or 819-997-2800 or email to ec.enviroinfo.ec@canada.ca.

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of the Environment and Climate Change, 2016.

Aussi disponible en français

Synopsis

Pursuant to section 74 of the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999 (CEPA), the Minister of the Environment and the Minister of Health have conducted a screening assessment on benzene, 1-chloro-2-[2,2-dichloro-1-(4-chlorophenyl)ethyl]-, hereinafter referred to as mitotane. The Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN¹) for mitotane is 53-19-0. Mitotane was identified as a priority for assessment as it met categorization criteria under subsection 73(1) of CEPA.

Mitotane is a substance that may be formed upon the degradation of dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) and may be present as residual in DDT and dicofol, two active ingredients formerly found in pest control products that are no longer registered for use in Canada. Residues of both DDT and dicofol may still be found in soil and sediment. Additionally, mitotane is registered for use in Canada as a chemotherapeutic agent for the treatment of adrenal cancer. The substance is not naturally occurring and is not manufactured in Canada. Between 100 and 1000 kg of mitotane were imported into Canada in 2005. Mitotane was not reported to be imported in 2006 above the reporting threshold of 100 kg nor used above the reporting threshold of 1000 kg. The pharmaceutical industry provided information that indicates that quantities imported and used in Canada is in the range of 100 to 1000 kg per year. Its use as a chemotherapeutic agent suggests that it could be released into the Canadian environment.

It is expected that most of the total quantity of mitotane currently present in the environment is the result of historical use of DDT and dicofol. Based on mitotane's chemotherapeutic use, a small amount of this substance may be released to wastewater treatment systems. Mitotane has low solubility in water, minimal volatility and a tendency to partition to particles and lipids of organisms because of its hydrophobic nature. For these reasons, mitotane may still be predominantly found in soil and, to a lesser extent, in sediment. It is expected to be present in small proportions in water and air.

Because of its physical and chemical properties, mitotane is not expected to degrade rapidly in the environment. It is expected to be persistent in air, water, soil and sediments. Mitotane also has the potential to bioaccumulate in aquatic organisms and may biomagnify in freshwater piscivorous food chains. Such accumulation is unlikely in birds or mammals, however, because of their

¹ The Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN) is the property of the American Chemical Society and any use or redistribution, except as required in supporting regulatory requirements and/or for reports to the Government of Canada when the information and the reports are required by law or administrative policy, is not permitted without the prior, written permission of the American Chemical Society

enhanced metabolic capacities. The substance has been determined to meet both the persistence and bioaccumulation criteria as set out in the *Persistence and Bioaccumulation Regulations*. In addition, analogue and modelled aquatic toxicity data indicate that the substance is highly hazardous to aquatic organisms.

There are long-term risks associated with persistent and bioaccumulative substances that cannot, at present, be reliably predicted. Since accumulations of persistent and bioaccumulative substances may be widespread and are difficult to reverse, a conservative response to uncertainty is justified. However, it is acknowledged that the level of concern for a persistent and bioaccumulative substance is dependent on the rate and nature of releases to the environment.

While limited quantities of mitotane are consumed as a pharmaceutical in Canada, a certain proportion of this amount may be released through excretion at a limited small number of wastewater treatment sites. Comparison of estimated levels of mitotane in lakes and rivers near wastewater treatment system effluent discharge points, with a level expected to cause harm to sensitive aquatic organisms, indicates potential for ecological harm.

Given the empirical health effects data for mitotane, the adrenal glands are expected to be the target tissue for humans. Margins between conservative upper-bounding estimates of exposure to mitotane from environmental media and the lowest-observed-effect level in laboratory studies are considered adequate to address uncertainties in the health effects and exposure databases.

On the basis of the information available, it is concluded that mitotane meets the criteria under paragraph 64(a) of CEPA as it is entering or may enter the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that have or may have an immediate or long-term harmful effect on the environment or its biological diversity. However, mitotane does not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(b) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger to the environment on which life depends. It is also concluded that mitotane does not meet the criteria in paragraph 64(c) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger in Canada to human life or health.

On the basis of the information available, it is concluded that mitotane meets one or more of the criteria set out in section 64 of CEPA. Mitotane has been determined to meet the persistence and bioaccumulation criteria as set out in the *Persistence and Bioaccumulation Regulations* of CEPA.

Table of Contents

Synopsis	ii
1. Introduction	
2. Substance identity	
3. Physical and chemical properties	10
4. Sources	
5. Uses	
6. Releases to the environment	17
7. Environmental fate	18
7.1 Environmental persistence	19
7.2 Potential for bioaccumulation	24
7.2.1 Empirical measures of bioaccumulation	24
7.2.2 Modelling of BCF and BAF	27
7.2.3 Conclusion	29
8. Potential to cause ecological harm	29
8.1 Ecological effects assessment	
8.1.1 Aquatic compartment Error! Bo	okmark not defined.
8.1.2 Other environmental compartments	36
8.1.3 Toxicity conclusions	38
8.2 Ecological exposure assessment	38
8.2.1 Releases from use of mitotane as a prescription	
8.3 Characterization of ecological risk	47
8.3.1 Potential for releases	47
8.3.2 Persistence	47
8.3.3 Bioaccumulation	48
8.3.4 Qualitative evaluation	48
8.3.5 Risk quotient analysis	49
8.3.6 Summary	49
8.4 Uncertainties in evaluation of ecological risk	50
9. Potential to cause harm to human health	52
9.1 Exposure assessment	52
9.1.1 Environmental media	52
9.1.2 Consumer products	53
9.2 Health effects assessment	53
9.3 Characterization of risk to human health	56
9.4 Uncertainties in evaluation of risk to human health	57
10. Conclusion	58
References	59
Appendices	

List of Tables and Figures

Table 2-1.	Substance identity for mitotane	9
Figure 3-1.	Structure of p,p'-DDD	
Table 3-1.	Physical and chemical properties for mitotane and its analogue, p,pDDD	
Table 4-1.	Components of commercial DDT formulations, and their degradation products	n
Table 7-1.	Results of the Level III fugacity modelling (EQC 2003)	
Table 7-2.	Empirical data for degradation of mitotane	19
Table 7-3.	Modelled data for degradation of mitotane	21
Table 7-4.	Empirical BAF and BCF data for a mitotane analogue (p,p'-DDD)	25
Table 7-5.	Other empirical bioaccumulation data for mitotane and p,p'-DDD	26
Table 7-6.	Modelled data for bioaccumulation of mitotane (log Kow =5.9)	28
Table 8-1.	Empirical aquatic toxicity data for mitotane	30
Table 8-2.	Modelled toxicity data for mitotane	
Table 8-3.	Empirical aquatic toxicity data for p,p'-DDD, an analogue for mitota	ne
		32
Table 8-4.	Empirical data for sediment toxicity of the mitotane analogue DDD.	36
Table 8-5.	Empirical data for toxicity of mitotane and its analogue DDD to	
	terrestrial organisms	37
Table 8-6.		
Table 8-7.	Concentrations of mitotane in soil	40
Table 8-8.	Concentrations of mitotane in surface water	41
Table 8-9.	Concentrations of mitotane in precipitation	41
Table 8-10.	Concentrations of mitotane in sediment	41
Table 8-11.	Concentrations of mitotane in biota	42

1. Introduction

The Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999 (CEPA) (Canada 1999) requires the Minister of the Environment and the Minister of Health to conduct screening assessments of substances that have met the categorization criteria set out in the Act to determine whether these substances present or may present a risk to the environment or to human health.

On the basis of the information obtained through the categorization process, the Ministers identified a number of substances as high priorities for action. These include substances that

- met all of the ecological categorization criteria, including persistence (P), bioaccumulation potential (B) and inherent toxicity to aquatic organisms (iT) and were believed to be in commerce in Canada; and/or
- met the categorization criteria for greatest potential for exposure (GPE) or presented an intermediate potential for exposure (IPE) and had been identified as posing a high hazard to human health on the basis of classifications by other national or international agencies for carcinogenicity, genotoxicity, developmental toxicity or reproductive toxicity.

The Ministers therefore published a notice of intent in the *Canada Gazette*, Part I, on December 9, 2006 (Canada 2006), that challenged industry and other interested stakeholders to submit, within specified timelines, specific information that may be used to inform risk assessment and to develop and benchmark best practices for the risk management and product stewardship of those substances identified as high priorities.

The substance, benzene, 1-chloro-2-[2,2-dichloro-1-(4-chlorophenyl)ethyl]-, was identified as a priority for assessment as it met categorization criteria under subsection 73(1) of CEPA (ECCC, HC [modified 2007]). The "Challenge" for this substance was published in the *Canada Gazette* on December 26, 2009 (Canada 2009a, 2009b). A substance profile was released at the same time. The substance profile presented the technical information available prior to December 2005 that formed the basis for categorization of this substance. No submissions of information were received in response to the Challenge.

Screening assessments focus on information critical to determining whether a substance meets the criteria as set out in section 64 of CEPA. Screening

assessments examine scientific information and develop conclusions by incorporating a weight-of-evidence approach and precaution.²

This screening assessment includes consideration of information on chemical properties, hazards, uses and exposure. Data relevant to the screening assessment of this substance were identified in original literature, review and assessment documents and stakeholder research reports and from literature searches up to September 2010 for the ecological and health sections of the document. In February 2017, a rapid search of the literature did not identify any significant new information that could influence the outcome of this assessment. Key studies were critically evaluated and modelling results may have been used to reach conclusions.

When available and relevant, information presented in hazard assessments from other jurisdictions was considered.

This screening assessment was prepared by staff in the Existing Substances Programs at Health Canada and Environment and Climate Change Canada and incorporates input from other programs within these departments. The ecological portions of this assessment have undergone external written peer review/consultation. Approaches used in the screening assessments under the Challenge have been reviewed by an independent Challenge Advisory Panel. Additionally, the draft of this screening assessment was subject to a 60-day public comment period. No external comments were received on the draft screening assessment. The final content and outcome of the screening assessment remain the responsibility of Health Canada and Environment and Climate Change Canada.

The critical information and considerations upon which the assessment is based are summarized below.

² A determination of whether one or more of the criteria of section 64 of CEPA are met is based on an assessment of potential risks to the environment and/or to human health associated with exposures in general environment. For humans, this includes, but is not limited to exposures from ambient and independent of the control of the criteria of section 64 of CEPA are met is based on an assessment of potential risks to the environment and/or to human health associated with exposures in a control of the criteria of section 64 of CEPA are met is based on an assessment of potential risks to the environment and/or to human health associated with exposures in the criteria of section 64 of CEPA are met is based on an assessment of potential risks to the environment and/or to human health associated with exposures in

assessment of potential risks to the environment and/or to human health associated with exposures in the general environment. For humans, this includes, but is not limited to, exposures from ambient and indoor air, drinking water, foodstuffs, and products available to consumers. A conclusion under CEPA is not relevant to, nor does it preclude, an assessment against the hazard criteria specified in *the Hazardous Products Regulations*, which are part of the regulatory framework for the Workplace Hazardous Materials Information System for products intended for workplace use. Similarily, a conclusion based on the criteria contained in section 64 of CEPA does not preclude actions being taken under other sections of CEPA or other acts.

2. Substance identity

For the purposes of this document, this substance will be referred to as mitotane, its common name. Mitotane, also known as o,p'-DDD, can be both a residue in, and a degradation product of a component of the insecticide, dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT). The components and their proportions in the DDT product are listed in Table 4-1. DDT has not been registered for use in Canada since 1985. DDT derivatives may also be present at low levels as residues in dicofol (a miticide) products.

The p,p'-DDD isomer (CAS RN 72-54-8; see Figure 3-1) is structurally similar to o,p'-DDD but is the substance more commonly measured in the environment and more commonly referred to in the literature, as the name DDD generally refers to the p,p'-DDD isomer.

Table 2-1. Substance identity for mitotane

Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN)	53-19-0		
DSL name ^a	Benzene, 1-chloro-2-[2,2-dichloro-1-(4-chlorophenyl)ethyl]-		
National Chemical Inventories (NCI) names ^b	Benzene, 1-chloro-2-[2,2-dichloro-1-(4-chlorophenyl)ethyl]- (AICS, ASIA-PAC, NZIoC) mitotane (EINECS)		
Other names	o,p'-DDD; o,p'-TDE; Lysodren®; Mitotan; 1,1-dichloro-2-(o-chlorophenyl)-2-(p-chlorophenyl)ethane; 1-chloro-2-[2,2-dichloro-1-(4-chlorophenyl)ethyl]benzene; 2-(2-chlorophenyl)-2-(4-chlorophenyl)-1,1-dichloroethane; 2,2-bis(2-chlorophenyl-4-chlorophenyl)-1,1-dichloroethane; 2,4'-dichlorodiphenyl dichloroethane; Benzene, 1-chloro-2-(2,2-dichloro-1-(4-chlorophenyl)ethyl); CB 313; Chloditan; Chlodithane; Ethane, 1,1-dichloro-2-(o-chlorophenyl)-2-(p-chlorophenyl)-; NCI-C04933; NSC-38721; o,p'-Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethane		
Chemical group (DSL Stream)	Discrete organics		
Major chemical class or use	Organohalides		
Major chemical sub- class	Chlorophenyls		
Chemical formula	C ₁₄ H ₁₀ Cl ₄		

Chemical structure	CI
SMILES ^c	CIC(CI)C(c1ccc(CI)cc1)c2cccc2CI
Molecular mass	320.05 g/mol

DSL (Domestic Substances List)

Simplified Molecular Input Line Entry System.

3. Physical and chemical properties

Mitotane has two optically active forms called enantiomers, labelled as dextro (+) or laevo (-) (Konwick et al. 2006). This property of a substance is called chirality. Although the gross chemical properties of a chiral molecule are the same for both enantiomers, biological activity can be enantiomer-specific. This issue is discussed further in the bioaccumulation and ecological effects sections of this report.

Table 3-1 contains experimental and modelled physical and chemical properties of mitotane that are relevant to its environmental fate. Key studies from which experimental data were reported (i.e., water solubility and K_{ow}) were critically reviewed for validity.

Models based on quantitative structure-activity relationships (QSAR) were used to generate data for some of the physical and chemical properties of mitotane. These models (except for WSKOWWIN 2008) are mainly based on fragment addition methods, i.e., they rely on the structure of a chemical.

Because of the lack of empirical data for K_{OW} , bioaccumulation and ecotoxicity for mitotane, the isomer p,p'-DDD (CAS RN 72-54-8) (see Figure 3-1) was used as an analogue. The substance, p,p'-DDD, has been historically used as an insecticide but has not been registered for use in Canada since 1978. The only difference between the chemical structure of p,p'-DDD and mitotane is the location of one of the chlorine atoms on the benzene rings. Thus, because of their similar structures, EPI Suite (2008) models predict that both mitotane and p,p'-DDD have the same physical and chemical properties, persistence, bioaccumulation in fish, and aquatic toxicity, provided there is no additional input of experimental physical and chemical property data. Therefore, the slight difference in chemical structure should not affect the gross physical and chemical

National Chemical Inventories (NCI). 2009: AICS (Australian Inventory of Chemical Substances); ASIA-PAC (Asia-Pacific Substances Lists); EINECS (European Inventory of Existing Commercial Chemical Substances); and NZIoC (New Zealand Inventory of Chemicals).

properties such as those listed in Table 3-1. Evidence of this may be seen, for example, in the similarity of the experimental water solubilities for mitotane and p,p'-DDD, which are 0.1 mg/L and 0.09 mg/L, respectively (Biggar and Riggs 1974). The location of the chlorine atoms may, however, cause differences in bioaccumulation and toxicity in certain types of organisms, such as birds and mammals, as there is evidence that the two substances accumulate and metabolize differently in such organisms. The suitability of the analogue p,p'-DDD for toxicity and bioaccumulation is discussed, as appropriate, in the respective sections.

Figure 3-1. Structure of p,p'-DDD

Table 3-1. Physical and chemical properties for mitotane

	sical and chemica			- .
Property	Туре	Value ^a	Temperature (°C)	Reference
Melting point (°C)	Experimental	77*	-	PhysProp 2006
Melting point (°C)	Modelled	114.3	-	MPBPWIN 2008
Boiling point (°C)	Modelled	366.75	-	MPBPWIN 2008
Density (kg/m³)	No information available	No information available	No information available	No information available
Vapour pressure (Pa)	Modelled	2.253E-3 (1.69E-5 mm Hg)	25	MPBPWIN 2008
Vapour pressure (Pa)	Experimental	2.586E-4 (1.94E-6 mm Hg)	30	Suntio et al. 1988
Vapour pressure (Pa)	Experimental	2.51E-3*	25	Zhang et al. 2009
Henry's law constant (Pa·m³/mol)	Calculated ^b	8.035*	25	-
Henry's law constant (atm·m³/mol)	Calculated ^b	7.93E-5	25	-
Henry's law constant (Pa·m³/mol)	Modelled	4.40	25	HENRYWIN 2008
Henry's law constant (Pa·m³/mol)	Modelled	4.341E-5	25	HENRYWIN 2008
log K _{ow} (octanol-water partition	Modelled	5.87	-	KOWWIN 2008

Property	Туре	Value ^a	Temperature (°C)	Reference
coefficient) (dimensionles s)				
log K _{ow} (dimensionles s)	Modelled	6.55	-	Karickhoff et al. 1991 (cited in Meador et al. 1997)
log K _{ow} (dimensionles s)	Experimental (value is for mitotane's analogue, p,p'-DDD)	6.02	-	Sangster 1994 (cited in Physprop 2006)
log K _{ow} (dimensionles s)	Experimental (value is for mitotane's analogue, p,p'-DDD)	6.22*	25	DeBruijn et al. 1989
log K _{ow} (dimensionles s)	N/A	5.69	-	Hansch and Leo 1979 (cited in Gossett et al. 1983)
log K _{oc} (organic carbon-water partition coefficient) (dimensionles s)	Modelled	5.19	-	ATSDR 2002
log K _{oc} (dimensionles s)	Modelled (from K _{ow})	5.40*	-	KOCWIN 2008
log K _{oc} (dimensionles	Modelled (from MCI)	5.08	-	KOCWIN 2008

Property	Туре	Value ^a	Temperature (°C)	Reference
s)				
Water solubility (mg/L)	Experimental	0.1*	25	Biggar and Riggs 1974
Water solubility (mg/L)	Modelled	0.1192	Not specified	WSKOWWIN 2008
Other solubilities (g/L)	Experimental (alcohol, isooctane, hexane and carbon tetrachloride)	"Soluble"	Not specified	USP 2008; O'Neil 2006
pK _a (acid dissociation constant) (dimensionles s)	The substance is not ionizable under environmental conditions	Not applicable	Not applicable	Not applicable

a Values in parentheses represent the original ones as reported by the authors or as estimated by the models.
b Henry's law constant = vapour pressure/water solubility, both vapour pressure and water solubility are experimental values.

* indicates selected value for modelling.
'-' Data not available.

4. Sources

Mitotane is not reported to occur naturally in the environment.

Information was collected through a CEPA section 71 notice conducted for the 2005 calendar year (Canada 2006). The results indicated that mitotane was not manufactured in Canada. However, two companies imported mitotane into Canada in the 100 to 1000 kg/year range.

For the 2006 calendar year, information gathered through the CEPA section 71 notice indicated that mitotane was not manufactured, imported or used in Canada in a quantity above the reporting thresholds. One Canadian company did, however, identify itself as having a stakeholder interest in the substance (Canada 2009a).

In Canada, mitotane is a substance in products regulated under the *Food and Drugs Act* (Canada 1985b). *Domestic Substances List* (DSL) registration information—which is based on activity between January 1, 1984, and December 31, 1986—indicates that products were in commerce under this use. Mitotane was originally added to the DSL without accompanying information, such as quantity in commerce and number of notifiers (Environment Canada 1988). Mitotane is registered in Health Canada's Drug Product Database as an ingredient in a licensed pharmaceutical drug (DPD 2010). Details provided in the public comment period following publication of the draft assessment indicates that imported quantities are in the range of 100 to 1000 kg.

Historical use of the pesticides DDT and dicofol is another environmental source of mitotane. Mitotane may be present as a residue (0.1%) in the commercial pesticide product DDT (Table 4-1) (GdCh 1998). Mitotane is also a degradation product or metabolite of an isomer of DDT (*o,p'*-DDT) which is typically present in the range of 15% to 21% in the insecticide DDT (ATSDR 2002). The isomer of DDT, *o,p'*-DDT, is present at detectable levels in dicofol (HSDB 2010). DDT was once widely used as a broad-spectrum insecticide. In 1970, Canada restricted the use of the insecticide DDT, and registration was suspended in 1985 (CCME 1999, Canada 2002). In 1972, the United States excluded the use of DDT as the active ingredient of registered pesticide products. However, it is still in use in some countries (ATSDR 2002). DDT was found to be a harmful persistent organic pollutant (POP) by international institutions such as the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). The worldwide production of DDT has largely been reduced and is subject to international control under the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (UNEP 2001).

Table 4-1. Components of commercial DDT formulations, and their

degradation products

DDT component	DDT formulation (%) (GdCh 1998)	Degradation products (IPCS 1989)
p,p'-DDT	77.1	p,p'-DDE (aerobic); p,p'-DDD (anaerobic)
o,p'-DDT	14.9	o,p'-DDE (aerobic); mitotane (anaerobic)
p,p'-DDE	4	p,p'-DDMU; 4-chlorobenzaldehyde
o,p'-DDE	0.1	Not available
p,p'-DDD	0.3	p,p'-DDMU
Mitotane (o,p'-DDD)	0.1	o,p'-DDA and hydroxylates

DDT and its derivatives can also be present in dicofol formulations as impurities (ATSDR 2002). The content of o,p'-DDT is generally < 0.1% of the total volume of the dicofol product (HSDB 2010), while mitotane (o,p'-DDD) was not detectable in dicofol formulations (Turgut et al. 2009; Qiu et al. 2005). Sales of dicofol were voluntarily discontinued in Canada in December 2008, and all uses of dicofol products expired on December 31, 2011. Dicofol products can no longer be legally sold or used in Canada (PMRA 2010).

Low levels of mitotane resulting from historical DDT and dicofol applications have the potential to still be present in the environment or to enter the Canadian environment through long-range transport (e.g., in air) from other countries (see Section 8.2).

5. Uses

In Canada, mitotane is registered in Health Canada's Drug Product Database (DPD) as an ingredient in a licensed pharmaceutical drug (DPD 2010). The drug containing this substance as an ingredient was previously assessed under the *Food and Drugs Act* (FDA) with respect to its safety, effectiveness and quality. The assessmentAssessment related to the pharmaceutical use of mitotane in this report focused on environmental exposures that were not covered as part of the FDA assessment.

This prescription drug is an oral chemotherapeutic agent used in the treatment of cancer of the adrenal gland (ATSDR 2002; Canadian Cancer Society 2010; University of Michigan 2010). Specifically, mitotane is indicated in the treatment of inoperable, metastatic and recurrent adrenocortical cancers (Attivi, 2010; Bristol-Myers Squibb Company 2010). Most clinicians consider mitotane the drug of choice for the treatment of adrenocortical cancers (AHFS 2010). An estimated 93 kg, 100 kg and 60 kg were used in 2007, 2011 and 2012, respectively, in Canada (McLaughlin and Belknap 2008, IMS 2013). Information from the

pharmaceutical industry indicates that actual use in Canada varies from year to year, but is generally in the range of 100 to 1000 kg per year. An average dose of at least 8 to 10 grams per day is recommended by the distributor, but the dose can range from 2 to 16 grams per day (Bristol-Myers Squibb Company 2010).

Mitotane is listed in the Natural Health Products Ingredients Database with a non-natural health product role because "listed in the Prescription Drug List as follows: Mitotane" (NHPID 2017). It is not listed in the Licensed Natural Health Products Database as being present in currently licensed natural health products (LNHPD 2017). Therefore, no current licensed natural health products contain this substance as a medicinal ingredient or as a non-medicinal ingredient (LNHPD 2010). Mitotane is not listed in the lists of permitted food additives as an approved food additive under the *Food and Drugs Act* (Canada 1978) and associated marketing authorizations (Health Canada 2013). It has not been identified as used and/or present in formulations of incidental additives or food packaging materials (personal communication from Food Directorate, Health Canada, to Existing Substances Risk Assessment Bureau, Health Canada, 2010; unreferenced).

In other countries, mitotane is reported to be used to treat Cushing's syndrome (hyperadrenocorticism) in humans and dogs (ATSDR 2002; HSDB 2010).

6. Releases to the environment

No specific information on industrial releases of mitotane has been identified. No information was received from industrial importers/users of the substance in response to the CEPA section 71 survey for 2006 (Canada 2009a), and the substance is not reportable to the National Pollutant Release Inventory (NPRI 2006).

Mitotane does not occur naturally. Presence in the environment occurs as a result of either past application of the insecticide formulations DDT and dicofol (PMRA 2007) or its current use as a prescription drug.

Mitotane is a degradation product of *o,p'*-DDT, which is present at up to 21% in formulations of DDT. In dicofol, mitotane may be released through the degradation of *o,p'*-DDT, which is found in dicofol formulations at <1%. In Canada, these pesticides were used in agricultural areas and forests. The resulting releases of mitotane were predominantly to soils and, through spray drift, to air. When used as a prescription drug, mitotane is released to wastewater, and it is therefore expected to be present in sediments, surface water and biosolids.

Hence, as a degradation product of a component of both DDT and dicofol, mitotane from historical use is believed to be widely dispersed in the environment. A significantly larger proportion of mitotane present in the

environment is expected to be from the degradation of *o,p'*-DDT. However, concentrations near current points of discharge to water can be elevated as a result of recent drug use.

Mitotane is registered in Canada as a chemotherapeutic agent and is ingested in tablets. According to the product monograph, retrieved from the Drug Product Database (2010), mitotane is absorbed in the body or converted to a water-soluble metabolite. Consumer use of the drug product containing mitotane accounts for all mitotane releases of the drug product.

Unchanged mitotane has not been found in urine or bile (see information on metabolism of mitotane in health effects assessment section) (FDA 2009). An average dose of 8 to 10 grams per day is recommended by the distributor (Bristol-Myers Squibb Company 2010). The capacity of the intestine to dissolve that quantity of mitotane, as required for uptake, is limited. Since the information available on the fate and possible transformation of the unabsorbed product is limited and uncertain, it is conservatively assumed that 60% is excreted unchanged in the feces (Moy 1961).

Patients' response to mitotane is highly variable (Attivi 2010). Until a stable regimen is found (i.e., the maximum tolerable dose is reached), the patient remains in the hospital (Bristol-Myers Squibb Company 2010). The recommended mitotane plasma concentration (14 to 20 mg/L) is generally achieved after a period of 2 to 3 weeks (Moy 1961). The patient then returns home for the remainder of the treatment period, which ranges from 4 to 48 months (Hutter and Kayhoe 1966; Baudin et al. 2001; Terzolo, Angeli et al. 2007; Attivi 2010; Brunton et al. 2005, ASHP 2010).

After the excreted mitotane reaches the wastewater treatment systems, it will preferentially partition to sludge, which may be transformed to biosolids. Releases from biosolids that are applied to agricultural fields is a potential source of entry of mitotane to soils in Canada. However, this pathway results in disperse release and is expected to be negligible compared to the quantities of mitotane formed from ongoing *in situ* o,p'-DDT degradation.

7. Environmental fate

Because of its physical and chemical properties (Table 3-1) and on the basis of the results of Level III fugacity modelling (Table 7-1), mitotane is expected to predominantly reside in soil and sediment, depending on the compartment of release. Currently, the only release of mitotane to water is through wastewater, following its use as a prescription drug.

Table 7-1. Results of the Level III fugacity modelling (EQC 2003)

Substance	Percentage	Percentage	Percentage	Percentage
released to:	of substance	of substance	of substance	of substance

	partitioning into air	partitioning into water	partitioning into soil	partitioning into sediment
Air (100%)	11.0	2.20	59.9	26.8
Water (100%)	0.16	7.50	0.87	91.5
Soil (100%)	0.00	0.01	99.9	0.11

These fugacity modelling results represent the partitioning of the substance in a hypothetical evaluative environment resulting from intermedia partitioning, and loss by both advective transport (i.e., out of the modelled region) and degradation/transformation processes. The partitioning values shown in Table 7-1 represent the net effect of these processes under conditions of continuous release when a non-equilibrium "steady-state" has been achieved.

If released to water, mitotane is expected to strongly adsorb to suspended solids and sediment because of its high estimated log K_{oc} value of ~5.09. Given this compound's estimated Henry's law constant, volatilization from water surfaces may occur. Nevertheless, if water is a receiving medium, mitotane is expected to partition mainly to sediment (Table 7-1).

Mitotane released to soil is expected to have high adsorptivity to soil (i.e., expected to be relatively immobile) because of its estimated log K_{oc} . Considering its Henry's law constant, volatilization from moist soil surfaces may occur. Its vapour pressure is such that it may also volatilize slightly from dry soil surfaces. However, wind erosion can contribute to mitotane loss from soil and transfer to air in an agricultural context (Natural Resources Canada 2010).

A small amount of the substance is expected to reside in air (see Table 7-1 above). Given its low experimental vapour pressure of 2.51 x 10⁻³ Pa and moderate Henry's law constant of 8.035 Pa·m³/mol, mitotane is considered to be minimally volatile. Therefore, if released solely to air, it will partition largely to soil and sediment (59.9% and 26.8%, respectively; Table 7-1), but the proportion that remains in the air is not negligible.

7.1 Environmental persistence

Table 7-2 presents empirical hydrolysis and biodegradation data for mitotane.

Table 7-2. Empirical data for degradation of mitotane

Medium	Fate process	Endpoint	Degradation endpoint / days	Reference
Water	Hydrolysis of DDD ^a	Half-life, pH 9 and 27°C	570 ^b	Wolfe et al. 1977
Water	Hydrolysis of DDD ^a	Half-life, pH 5 and 27°C	190 °	Wolfe et al. 1977

Medium	Fate process	Endpoint	Degradation endpoint / days	Reference
Sediments	Primary biodegradation , anaerobic	Half-life, concentration > 19.2 mg/kg dry weight (dw)	< 100	Huang et al. 2001
Sediments	Primary biodegradation , anaerobic	Half-life, concentrations 9.6–19.2 mg/kg dw	(persistent) > 250 days	Huang et al. 2001

a Includes both o,p'-DDD (mitotane) and p,p'-DDD.

Huang et al. (2001) studied anaerobic biodegradation of DDT and its metabolites in slurries of sediments and overlying site water (10% solids w/v) collected from the Keelung River, Taiwan. The presence of p,p'-DDT and its metabolite p,p'-DDD had been previously reported in sediment from this river, presumably as a result of deposition before the ban in the 1980s in China (Huang et al. 2001). An initial mitotane concentration of 39.5 μ M—equivalent to 126.4 mg/kg dw of sediment—was reduced to 6 μ M—equivalent to 19.2 mg/kg dw sediment—in 165 days after a lag phase of 25 days (Huang et al. 2001). On subsequent addition of mitotane (134.4 mg/kg dw), the removal rate increased. However, mitotane remained persistent after it had fallen to 19.2 mg/kg dw. There were no observable changes of mitotane in sterile controls during the sampling period. The authors determined the initial removal rate of mitotane to be 1.33 mg/kg dw/day. The degradation products of mitotane were not reported in this study.

Huang et al. (2001) also found a pH-dependence for the rates of p,p'-DDT dechlorination (see Table 4-1) and the rates of formation and further transformation of p,p'-DDD (i.e., analogue for mitotane in this assessment). Although the pH-dependence of mitotane transformation was not discussed, the degradation pathway of the p,p'-isomers is similar to that of the o,p'-isomers, and pH-dependence may therefore be comparable. The highest dechlorination activity for p,p'-DDD was observed at pH value of 6.7, whereas little or no transformation occurred at pH values of 5.9 and 9.0.

Huang et al. (2001) found that at higher concentrations (i.e., > 19.2 mg/kg dw), the primary transformation half-lives of the o,p'- and p,p'- isomers of DDT, DDD and DDE were less than 100 days, but there was a lag phase for the transformation of mitotane (o,p'-DDD) that was not observed for any of the other DDT residues studied. Huang et al. (2001) also found that all of the isomers of DDD and DDE were persistent at concentrations below 9.6 to 19.2 mg/kg dw. This observation may help to explain why environmental levels of DDT and its metabolites have generally declined since the 1970s but still remain ubiquitous at

^b Estimate based on Cristol et al. (1952).

^c Estimate based on Bensley and Kohnstam (1957).

concentrations ranging from 1 to 100 µg/kg in soil and sediment throughout the United States and around the world (Table 8-7, 8-10).

Kurt-Karakus et al. (2006) and Meijer et al. (2003) measured concentrations of DDT residues, including mitotane, in agricultural soil at the University of Guelph Muck Crops Research Station, Holland Marsh, Ontario, although it is not known whether the soil samples in the two studies were collected from the same field. In the two studies, mitotane concentrations in soil were 400 and 1200 μ g/kg dw, respectively, and o,p'-DDT concentrations were 3200 and 3000 μ g/kg dw, respectively. The date of the last DDT application at that location is not known, but was probably close to the time that DDT use in Canada was phased out in the mid-1970s (Kurt-Karakus et al. 2006). This demonstrates the potential for persistence of mitotane and/or o,p'-DDT in soil, as they were present in relatively high concentrations approximately 30 years after the last DDT application. Huang et al. (2001) determined degradation rates of o,p'-DDT and mitotane in anoxic slurries of sediment from the Keelung River in Taiwan. Mitotane was degraded 8.3 times slower than p,p'-DDT and 5.5 times slower than o,p'-DDT in anoxic sediments.

Since few experimental data on the degradation of mitotane are available, a QSAR-based weight-of-evidence approach (Environment Canada 2007) was also applied using the degradation models shown in Table 7-3 below. Given the ecological importance of the aquatic compartment, the fact that most of the available models apply to the aquatic compartment and the fact that mitotane is expected to be released from its current use to this compartment, biodegradation in the aquatic compartment was primarily examined.

Table 7-3. Modelled data for degradation of mitotane

Fate process	Model and model basis	Model result and prediction	Extrapolat ed half-life (days)
Atmospheric oxidation	AOPWIN 2008 ^a	$t_{1/2} = 2.5 \text{ days}$	>= 2
Ozone reaction	AOPWIN 2008 ^a	N/A ^b	N/A
Hydrolysis	HYDROWIN 2008 ^a	N/A ^b	N/A
Primary biodegradation (aerobic)	BIOWIN 2008 ^a Sub-model 4: Expert Survey (qualitative results)	2.8° "weeks"	<= 182
Ultimate biodegradation (aerobic)	BIOWIN 2008 ^a Sub-model 3: Expert Survey (qualitative results)	1.7 ^c "biodegrades very slowly"	>= 182
Ultimate biodegradation (aerobic)	BIOWIN 2008 ^a Sub-model 5: MITI linear probability	-0.22 ^d "biodegrades very slowly"	>= 182

Fate process	Model and model basis	Model result and prediction	Extrapolat ed half-life (days)
Ultimate biodegradation (aerobic)	BIOWIN 2008 ^a Sub-model 6: MITI non-linear probability	0.0007 ^d "biodegrades very slowly"	>= 182
Ultimate biodegradation (aerobic)	TOPKAT 2004 Probability	0.003 ^d "biodegrades very slowly"	>= 182
Ultimate biodegradation (aerobic)	CATABOL c2004- 2008 % BOD (biological oxygen demand)	% BOD = 0.003 "biodegrades very slowly"	>= 182

^a EPI Suite (2008)

The BIOWIN (2008) model results are considered to be reliable, as the relevant structural features of mitotane are included in the structural fragment library of this model (i.e., aliphatic and aromatic chloride, alkyl substituent on aromatic ring). As well, mitotane is within the model structural domain of CATABOL (c2004-2008) (structural match = 94%) and within the optimum prediction space of TOPKAT (2004), with all structural fragments covered.

In air, a predicted atmospheric oxidation half-life value of 2.5 days (Table 7-3) demonstrates that this substance is likely to be slowly oxidized, and it is therefore considered to be persistent in air (i.e., half-life > 2 days). Mitotane is not expected to degrade via direct photolysis.

In water, empirical hydrolysis half-life values of 190 to 570 days, depending upon the pH (Table 7-2), demonstrate that this substance is likely to be slowly hydrolyzed. However, other fate processes in water, such as biodegradation, need to be considered to determine overall persistence in this medium.

All of the ultimate biodegradation models (i.e., for which degradation leads to complete mineralization where final products are CO₂, H₂O and, generally, elements of the periodic table, Table 7-3) are in agreement that mitotane biodegrades very slowly and is therefore considered to be persistent in water, even if primary biodegradation may occur more rapidly.

Mitotane also contains structural features associated with chemicals that are not easily biodegraded (e.g., aliphatic CI, double-ringed aromatic structure with CI, and log $K_{ow} > 2.2$) (Arnot et al. 2009). Therefore, considering all model and

^b N/A (not applicable) – Model does not provide an estimate for this type of structure.

^c Output is a numerical score from 0 to 5.

^d Output is a probability score.

empirical results and structural features, there is reliable evidence to suggest that the ultimate biodegradation half-life of mitotane is > 182 days in water.

Using an extrapolation ratio of 1:1:4 for water:soil:sediment biodegradation half-life (Boethling et al. 1995), the ultimate degradation half-life in soil is also > 182 days and the half-life in sediments is > 365 days. This indicates that mitotane is expected to be persistent in aerobic soil and sediment.

There is some evidence that mitotane may undergo long-range atmospheric transport (LRAT) to remote regions. Concentrations of mitotane (*o*,*p*′-DDD) have been measured in Arctic air in Canada and Norway. At Svalbard, Norway, mitotane concentrations in air were 0.15 and 0.02 pg/m³ in the summers of 2004 and 2005, respectively (Becker et al. 2009). At the Alert research station in Nunavut, Canada, air concentrations of mitotane ranged from 0.09 to 1.15 pg/m³ in 2006–2007 (Hung et al. 2010; personal communication, emails from Air Quality Research, Environment Canada, to Ecological Assessment Division, Environment Canada, dated August 27, 2010; unreferenced). Mitotane has also been found in Arctic fish species (Berg et al. 1997; Table 8-11). However, it is likely that the long-range transport of *o*,*p*′-DDT released from soil (by wind erosion) has contributed to the presence of mitotane in the Arctic, since a portion of the *o*,*p*′-DDT in air that reaches the Arctic will eventually degrade, and mitotane will be formed as a degradation product under anaerobic conditions.

The Transport and Persistence Level III Model (TaPL3) (TaPL3 2000) was used to estimate the characteristic travel distance (CTD), defined as the maximum distance traveled in air by 63% of the substance. Beyer et al. (2000) have proposed CTDs of > 2000 km as representing high long-range atmospheric transport potential (LRATP), 700 to 2000 km as moderate LRATP, and < 700 km as low LRATP. On the basis of the CTD estimate of 1156 km, the long-range atmospheric transport potential of mitotane is considered to be moderate. This means that mitotane may be transported through the atmosphere to areas moderately far from its emission sources.

The OECD POP screening model can also be used to help identify chemicals with high persistence and long-range transport potential (Scheringer et al. 2006). The OECD model is a global model that compartmentalizes the earth into air, water and soil. This model is "transport-oriented" rather than "target-oriented" as it simply identifies the CTD without indicating specifically where a substance may be transported (Fenner et al. 2005). Klasmeier et al. (2006) have suggested that a threshold of 5098 km, derived on the basis of the model's CTD estimate for PCB-180, can be used to identify substances with high long-range transport potential. PCB-180 is empirically known to be found in remote regions. The CTD calculated for mitotane using the OECD model is 1047 km, indicating that mitotane does not have a high potential for transport in air, as this is below the boundary suggested for global pollutants by Klasmeier et al. (2006). The OECD POP screening model also calculates the transfer efficiency (TE), which is the

percentage of emission flux to air that is deposited to the surface (water and soil) in a remote region (TE % = D/E x 100, where E is the emission flux to air and D = the deposition flux to surface media in a target region). The TE for mitotane was calculated to be 0.000084%, which is below the boundary of 0.00065% (PCB-28) established on the basis of the model's reference substances empirically known to be deposited from air to soil or water. The low TE means that although mitotane has the potential to travel some distance in the atmosphere, it is unlikely to be deposited to Earth's surface in any remote region, according to the model.

Mitotane has been measured in Arctic air and wildlife as previously discussed. However, it is likely that much of the mitotane measured in the Arctic air is the result of the transformation of o,p'-DDT, since o,p'-DDT is much more abundant than mitotane in the atmosphere and o,p'-DDT has been shown to undergo LRAT to the Arctic (Wania 2006; Environment Canada 2006b). Furthermore, the LRATP models only rate mitotane as having moderate LRATP. Bidleman and Leone (2004) calculated o,p'-DDT fugacity in air. The fraction of o,p'-DDT in air from pesticidal uses of DDT was predicted to be 0.42, the mean value in air over soils was 0.49, and the mean value in in regional air was 0.43 to 0.45. It is reasonable to assume that long-range transport and deposition of o,p'-DDT followed by *in situ* degradation to mitotane is the only source of mitotane in ecosystems impacted solely by atmospheric deposition.

On the basis of the empirical and modelled data (Tables 7-2 and 7-3), it is concluded that mitotane is persistent in all media: air, water, soil and sediment.

7.2 Potential for bioaccumulation

7.2.1 Empirical measures of bioaccumulation

As noted previously, because of their similar structures, o,p'-DDD (mitotane) and p,p'-DDD are expected to generally have similar physical and chemical properties. However, a slight difference in their chemical structures is expected to result in different bioaccumulation potentials in some organisms. The cytochrome P450 enzymes that are responsible for the metabolism of many different classes of xenobiotic compounds in higher organisms (CYP2B) may not be found in most aquatic organisms (Norstrom 1997). In the case of non-fused ring aromatic compounds, the major requirement for ease of metabolism by such enzymes is the presence of unsubstituted meta-para positions on a ring structure (Norstrom 1997). This structural feature is present in one ring of o,p'-DDD, but not in p,p'-DDD. Thus, terrestrial mammals and birds are expected to readily metabolize absorbed o,p'-DDD, reducing its bioaccumulation potential in such organisms relative to that of p,p'-DDD. However, since CYP2B enzymes appear to be absent in fish and invertebrates, o,p'-DDD and p,p'-DDD are expected to have similar bioaccumulation potentials in aquatic organisms.

Table 7-4 presents empirical bioaccumulation values for the analogue substance p,p'-DDD in fish and aquatic invertebrates.

Table 7-4. Empirical BAF and BCF data for a mitotane analogue (p,p'-DDD)

Test organism, location	Endpoint	Value (L/kg wet weight)	Reference
Fish (composite sample),	BAF	892 473	Oliver and Niimi
Lake Ontario	(p,p'-DDD)		1988
Hyallela azteca (amphipod)	BCF	16 720	Lotufo et al.
	(p,p'-DDD)		2000
Diporeia spp. (amphipod)	BCF	436 000	Lotufo et al.
	(p,p'-DDD)		2000

BAF = bioaccumulation factor.

BCF = bioconcentration factor.

Lotufo et al. (2000) conducted BCF studies with freshwater amphipods and *p,p'*-DDD. *Hyallela azteca* was exposed to 0.178 µg/L *p,p'*-DDD for 10 days, and *Diporeia* spp. were exposed to 0.174 µg/L for 28 days. For *H. azteca*, the authors determined by visual inspection of the uptake curves and on the basis of the fact that the exposure time corresponded to at least three elimination half-lives by this organism, that the organisms were either close to attaining or had attained steady state during this exposure time. On the other hand, *Diporeia* spp. was not close to attaining steady state during the study, as the authors calculated that this would take approximately 623 days. The BCF presented in Table 7-4 for *Diporeia* spp. was modified to take this into account and is, therefore, the calculated steady-state BCF.

Lotufo et al. (2000) attributed some of the differences in the bioaccumulation of *p,p'*-DDD between *H. azteca* and *Diporeia* spp. to factors such as the temperature at which the experiments were carried out (room temperature for *H. azteca* and 4°C for *Diporeia* spp.), the organism size, and the lipid content of the two organisms.

Lotufo et al. (2000) determined that p,p'-DDD was not biotransformed during a 28-day exposure period with *Diporeia* spp. or a 24-hour exposure period with *H. azteca*, since after these time periods, the fraction of ¹⁴C activity in the organism tissues corresponding to this compound was greater than 98%.

As noted previously, mitotane has two optically active forms called enantiomers, labelled as dextro (+) or laevo (-). Although chemical properties are expected to be the same for both enantiomers, biological activity can be enantiomer-specific. For example, variable results were found among individual miniature pigs for enantiomer-selective metabolism of mitotane, suggesting that polymorphic factors affect the chiral aspects of metabolism (Cantillana et al. 2009). On the other hand, Konwick et al. (2006) did not observe any evidence of enantiomer-specific biotransformation of mitotane in rainbow trout; their observation was based on consistent enantiomeric fractions in the fish and its half-life falling on a

log K_{OW} to log $t_{1/2}$ relationship established for recalcitrant contaminants in fish (Fisk et al. 1998). Although data are limited, enantiomer specific metabolic activity for mitotane is thus not expected for aquatic organisms.

The high BAF of 892 473 L/kg (Table 7-4) and biomagnification factor (BMF) of 2.8 (Table 7-5) reported for mitotane by Oliver and Niimi (1988) and Konwick et al. (2006), respectively, should be considered as maximum values as the fish were also exposed to DDT. Uptake and metabolism of DDT probably contributed to the concentration of DDD in the fish.

Table 7-5. Other empirical bioaccumulation data for mitotane and p,p'-DDD

Test organism, location	Endpoint	Value ^a	Reference
Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss),	BMF (from food only; mitotane)	2.8	Konwick et al. 2006
lab study	orny, rintotario)		2000
Oligochaetes exposed to	BSAF(p,p'-	0.17–3.8	Ingersoll et al.
3-400 μg <i>p,p'</i> -DDD/gram organic carbon	DDD)		2005
	DOAE('(()		NA I
Amphipod Rhepoxynius abronius	BSAF(mitotane)	0.31 ± 0.10	Meador et al. 1997
abioillas			1337
Polychaete Armandia	BSAF	2.4 ± 0.9	Meador et al.
brevis	(mitotane)		1997
Bivalves (razor shell,	BSAF(mitotane)	13.9–41.0	Thompson et
carpet shell, mussel and			al. 1999
oyster)			

Normalized to [lipid]/[organic carbon].

BMF = biomagnification factor

BSAF = biota-sediment accumulation factor

Ingersoll et al. (2005) conducted a 42-day invertebrate colonization study in a pond containing p,p'-DDD-spiked sediment trays with a range of p,p'-DDD concentrations (3 to 400 $\mu g p,p'$ -DDD/g organic carbon (oc)). The authors measured the bioaccumulation of p,p'-DDD by oligochaetes colonizing the pond. Only the two highest concentrations (120 and 400 $\mu g p,p'$ -DDD/ g_{oc}) produced BSAFs greater than 1. Bioaccumulation of p,p'-DDD by the oligochaetes increased with increasing concentration of p,p'-DDD in the sediments. However, most of the concentrations tested are higher than what is found in most environmental samples. For example, the highest concentration of mitotane found in sediments in the Atlantic provinces was 0.083 $\mu g/kg$ dry wt (Table 8-10).

Meador et al. (1997) conducted a 10-day BSAF study with the saltwater species amphipod *Rhepoxynius abronius* and the polychaete *Armandia brevis*, collected off the coast of Washington state and exposed to sediments taken from 7 different sites selected over a large geographical area of the Hudson-Raritan estuary in New York. The sediments from these sites contained varying concentrations of mitotane, ranging from approximately 0.6 to 80 μg/kg dry wt.

The BSAF values in Table 7-5 are mean values, as the values obtained at each site are not given. The 10-day uptake period was considered to have been sufficient for *A. brevis* to reach steady state; however, *R. abronius* was probably far from steady state (Meador et al. 1997), indicating that the BSAF value for this species may be even higher at steady state.

Thompson et al. (1999) compared concentrations of o,p'-DDT residues and p,p'-DDT residues in four species of bivalves and sediment from an Atlantic Ocean bay on the coast of France. Interestingly, the sediment dwellers (razor shell, *Solen marginatus*, and carpet shell, *Ruditapes philippinarum*) accumulated primarily mitotane (50% to 60% of total residues), even though p,p'-DDD and p,p'-DDT dominated in sediment, which may suggest that p,p'-DDD metabolism was rapid in these species. On the other hand, the fraction of mitotane to total DDD in mussels and oysters was similar to that in sediment, suggesting non-selective accumulation (or metabolism if it occurs) of DDE and DDD isomers. BSAFs reported in this study were 13.9 for sediment-living oysters, 26.5 for razor shells, 28.5 for mussels, 30.7 for carpet shells and 41.0 for water-living oysters.

7.2.2 Modelling of BCF and BAF

Estimates of the BCF and BAF for mitotane were generated using quantitative structure-activity relationship (QSAR) and kinetic mass balance models. The results of this modelling are presented in Table 7-6 below. All models, except for the BCF linear regression model, corrected for metabolism rate (rate constant k_M). Both the default no metabolism and metabolism-corrected values are listed. The CPOPs model calculates the rate of metabolism on the basis of the probability of Phase I and Phase II biotransformation reactions occurring according to the structure of mitotane and according to the transformation pathways library contained in the model (Dimitrov et al. 2005). The k_M estimated using this method is ~0.01 d⁻¹.

Mass-balance predictions of BCF and BAF were generated using BCFBAF model contained in EPIWIN v4.0, which is based on a three-trophic-level version of the mass-balance kinetic model developed by Arnot and Gobas (2003). Metabolic rate constants can be generated in the EPIWIN BCFBAF model using either a QSAR-based approach (Arnot et al. 2009) or using empirical k_M data contained in the training or validation data sets of the model (Arnot et al. 2008a; Arnot et al. 2008b). The k_M used in the BCFBAF model was generated using the Konwick et al. 2006 BMF study for *o,p'*-DDD. The recommended k_M for a 10-g fish at 15°C according to this study is ~0.015 d⁻¹ (depuration half-life of ~45 days). Predictions of BCF and BAF using the BCFBAF model are then normalized to the body weight (184 g) and temperature (10°C) of a middle trophic level fish, which represents median exposure conditions in the Canadian environment. These are given in Table 7-6. The normalization routine is described in Arnot et al. (2008b). Finally, the default dietary assimilation efficiency of 49% was not corrected according to the alpha value of 42% ±3% reported in the Konwick et al. (2006)

BMF study as this would have little effect on the dietary uptake rate of mitotane and thus little impact on the calculated BAF.In all cases, mitotane is considered in all domains of all the models in Table 7-6. This includes the global parameter (log K_{ow} and molecular weight), metabolism (k_M), mechanistic (passive diffusion) and structural³ (chemical structure) domains.

Table 7-5. Modelled data for bioaccumulation of mitotane (log K_{ow} =5.9)

Test	Model and	Endpoint	Value wet	Reference
organism	model basis		weight (L/kg)	
Fish	BCFBAF	BCF, no	3467	BCFBAF
	(linear	metabolism		2008
	regression)			
Fish	BCFBAF	BCF,	11 376	BCFBAF
	(middle trophic)	metabolism-		2008
	(middle tropfile)	corrected		
Fish	BCFBAF	BAF,	148 936	BCFBAF
	=	metabolism-		2008
	(middle trophic)	corrected		
Fish	BCF	BCF	7413	CPOPs 2008
	(mitigating	metabolism-		
	factors)	corrected		

At a log K_{ow} of ~5.9, the predicted bioavailable fraction of mitotane in the water column according to the Arnot-Gobas mass-balance fish model is ~85%, which suggests that uptake from water via the gills is a very relevant exposure for mitotane. If the log K_{oc} of 5.4 is used, the predicted bioavailable fraction is even greater (~95%). These data suggest that BCF may be the most relevant metric for establishing the bioaccumulation potential of mitotane and that dietary routes of exposure will contribute less significantly to the overall body burden of mitotane in pelagic organisms. In summary, the majority of modelled BCF and BAF values (Table 7-6), as well as the empirical BAF and BMF values (Tables 7-4 and 7-5), indicate that mitotane is highly bioaccumulative.

The predicted BCF values suggest that mitotane is highly bioconcentrated via the gills from the bioavailable fraction in water. These results are consistent with BCF values observed in aquatic invertebrates. The above estimated values for BAF agree relatively well with the field measured BAFs for p,p'-DDD for Lake Ontario

³ All structural features are represented in the structural fragment library (i.e., aliphatic chloride, aromatic chloride, alkyl substituent on an aromatic ring, aromatic CH, aromatic H, CH (linear), benzene).

(Oliver and Niimi 1988), suggesting that the BAF for mitotane is in the order of 1 \times 10⁵ when tissue concentrations are compared to water concentrations.

Arnot and Gobas (2006) critically evaluated available bioaccumulation data (BCF and BAF) for fish and other organisms. Part of their work was prompted by the Government of Canada's categorization effort in early 2000 and led to an empirical database of quality BCF and BAF values that Canada has used for categorization and for the Challenge (Arnot and Gobas 2003). In Arnot and Gobas (2006), at a log K_{ow} of 5.9 for mitotane and a metabolic transformation rate of ~0.01-0.02, the empirical distribution of "acceptable" fish BCF data shows that there are several chemicals with fish BCFs meeting the Canadian criteria of BAF or BCF ≥5000. Many of these are also halogenated organic compounds.

7.2.3 Conclusion

There is very good consistency between various lines of evidence to suggest that mitotane will bioaccumulate from both water and the dietary exposures in aquatic organisms and will also biomagnify in foodwebs. This is consistent with many halogenated organic compounds with low rates of biotransformation. The log K_{ow} and log K_{oc} indicate that there is potentially a significant bioavailable fraction of mitotane in natural waters and that uptake via the gills (which BCF tests measure) is therefore sufficient to expect that BCF is a relevant metric for assessing the bioaccumulation potential. The log K_{ow} , rate of metabolism and laboratory BCF of mitotane are comparable to those of other chemicals that have been empirically observed to bioconcentrate from water to factors exceeding 5000. In addition, the calculated and observed "slow" rates of biotransformation in fish suggest that this pathway of elimination will not be significant in fish and other aquatic organisms. Coupled with a relatively high rate of dietary assimilation efficiency, mitotane is expected to significantly accumulate in the tissues of aquatic organisms from dietary transfer from the gastrointestinal tract.

Therefore, considering the consistency of the above evidence and high measured and predicted BAFs and BCFs, it is concluded that mitotane has a high potential for bioaccumulation and meets the Canadian criteria of BAF or BCF ≥5000.

8. Potential to cause ecological harm

8.1 Ecological effects assessment

8.1.1 Water

Empirical and modelled aquatic toxicity data for mitotane itself are presented in Tables 8-1 and 8-2, respectively. Relatively few experimental data are available on gross or whole-body-level effects (e.g., abnormal development). However, a number of biochemical results are presented. Due to its adrenocortical drug use

in humans and dogs, most research on mitotane is focused on this area. These biochemical studies are not directly applicable on the organism scale, and the absence of quantitative data eliminates them from consideration for the development of a critical toxicity value for risk quotient analysis. Modelling results in Table 8-2 present the predicted effect of mitotane on growth and survival of aquatic organisms. Empirical whole-organism-level aquatic toxicity data are also available for p,p'-DDD, an analogue for mitotane (Table 8-3).

p,p'-DDD is considered an appropriate analogue for toxicity to aquatic organisms since, as noted in the bioaccumulation section, most aquatic organisms are expected to have limited capacities to metabolize both p,p'-DDD and o,p'-DDD. However, owing to o,p'-DDD's enhanced susceptibility to metabolic transformation in mammals and birds compared to that of p,p'-DDD, p,p'-DDD is not considered a suitable analogue for toxicity to birds or mammals.

Together, these results indicate that mitotane has high toxicity to aquatic organisms following short-term (acute) and long-term (chronic) exposure at relatively low concentrations (e.g., < 1 mg/L for acute toxicity).

Table 8-1. Empirical aquatic toxicity data for mitotane

Test organism	Type of test	Endpoint	Value (mg/L)	Reference
Mollusc: Purple sea urchin embryos Strongylocentrotu s purpuratus	Abnormal development ^a , (96 hours)	EC ₅₀ ^b	0.0676	Roepke et al. 2005
Mollusc: Purple sea urchin embryos Strongylocentrotu s purpuratus	Abnormal development ^a (51 hours)	LOEC°	0.005	Roepke et al. 2005
Fish: Rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss	Cortisol stress response (14 days)	LOEC°	5 mg/kg-bw (injection) ^d	Benguira et al. 2002
Fish: Rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss interrenal cells	Cell viability assay (1 hour)	EC ₅₀ ^b	123.37	Leblond and Hontela 1999
Fish: Rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss interrenal cells	Cortisol secretion (1 hour)	EC ₅₀ ^b	41.60	Leblond and Hontela 1999

Test organism	Type of test	Endpoint	Value (mg/L)	Reference
Fish: Tilapia Sarotherodon aureus superfused interrenal tissue	Cortisol secretion (5 hours)	LOEC°	0.1	llan and Yaron 1980
Fish: Arctic char (Salvelinus alpinus)	Primary stress response (23 hours)	No statistical difference with control	75 mg (oral)	Jorgenson et al. 2001
Insect: Mosquito larvae	Mortality (48 hours)	LC ₅₀ e	0.015	Deonier et al. 1946

Table 8-2. Modelled toxicity data for mitotane

Test organism	Туре	Endpoint	Value	Reference
	of test		(mg/L)	
Fish	Acute	LC ₅₀ ^a	0.096	ECOSAR 2008
	(96			
	hours)			
Fathead	Acute	LC ₅₀ ^a	0.023	TOPKAT 2004
minnow	(96			
	hours)			
Fathead	Acute	LC ₅₀ ^a	0.087 ^b	CPOPs 2008
minnow	(96			
	hours)			
Fish	Chronic	-	0.013	ECOSAR 2008
	(30 days)			
Daphnia	Acute	LC ₅₀ ^a	0.096	ECOSAR 2008
	(48			
	hours)			
Daphnia	Acute	LC ₅₀ ^a	0.063	CPOPs 2008
	(48			
	hours)			
Daphnia	Chronic ^c	_ e	0.021	ECOSAR 2008
Green algae	Acute	EC ₅₀ ^d	0.246 ^b	ECOSAR 2008
	(96			
	hours)		<u>. </u>	
Green algae	Chronic	-	0.179 ^b	ECOSAR 2008

a Abnormal development included delayed, abnormal, elongated and hatched larvae.

b EC₅₀: The concentration of a substance that is estimated to cause some effect on 50% of the test organisms.

c LOEC: The lowest-observed-effect concentration is the lowest concentration in a toxicity test that caused a statistically significant effect in comparison to the controls.

d bw: Body weight.

 $^{^{\}rm e}$ LC₅₀: The concentration of a substance that is estimated to be lethal to 50% of the test organisms.

Test organism	Type of test	Endpoint	Value (mg/L)	Reference
Earthworm	Chronic (14 days)	LC ₅₀ ^a	220.7 ^b	ECOSAR 2008

Table 8-3. Empirical aquatic toxicity data for p,p'-DDD, an analogue for mitotane

Analogue	Test organism	Test type	Endpoin t	Value (mg/L)	Reference
DDD ^a	Crustacean: Daphnia magna	Acute (26 hours)	LC ₅₀ ^b	0.0046	Frear and Boyd 1967
DDDª	Crustacean: Hyalella azteca (in porewater)	Chronic (10 days)	LC ₅₀	0.00077	Lotufo et al. 2000
DDD ^a	Crustaceans: Diporeia spp.	Chronic (10 days)	LC ₅₀	0.01168	Lotufo et al. 2000
DDD ^a	Crustaceans: Diporeia spp.	Chronic (10 days)	EC ₅₀ ^c	0.00287	Lotufo et al. 2000
DDD ^a	Crustaceans: Diporeia spp.	Chronic (28 days)	LC ₅₀	0.00196	Lotufo et al. 2000
DDD ^a	Crustaceans: Diporeia spp.	Chronic (28 days)	EC ₅₀	< 0.00090	Lotufo et al. 2000
p,p'-DDD	Crustacean: Hyalella azteca	Chronic (10 days)	LC ₅₀	0.00019	Phipps et al. 1995
p,p'-DDD	Crustacean: Hyalella azteca (in porewater)	Chronic (10 days)	LC ₅₀	0.00108	Hoke et al. 1994
p,p'-DDD	Crustacean: Hyalella azteca	Chronic (10 days)	LC ₅₀	0.00019	Hoke et al. 1994
p,p'-DDD	Insect: Common malaria mosquito larvae Anopheles quadrimaculatus	Acute (48 hours)	LC ₉₅ ^d	0.0025	Deonier and Jones 1946
p,p'-DDD	Insect: Common malaria mosquito larvae Anopheles quadrimaculatus	Acute (48 hours)	LC ₁₀₀ ^e	0.005	Deonier and Jones 1946
p,p'-DDD	Insect: Midge Chironomus	Chronic (10 days)	LC ₅₀	0.00018	Phipps et al. 1995

^a LC_{50:} The concentration of a substance that is estimated to be lethal to 50% of the test organisms.
^b Given that concentrations for both the toxicity and water solubility are often uncertain, only toxicity values that exceeded solubility estimates by up to a factor of 10 were considered to be acceptable. $^{\circ}$ Time period not specified. $^{\circ}$ EC_{50:} The concentration of a substance that is estimated to cause some effect on 50% of the test organisms. '-' Data not available.

Analogue	Test organism	Test type	Endpoin t	Value (mg/L)	Reference
	tentans				
p,p'-DDD	Insect: Flatworm Phagocata gracilis	Chronic (10 days)	LC ₅₀	0.6	Bonner and Wells 1987
<i>p,p'</i> -DDD	Insect: Midge Chironomus tentans	Chronic (10 days)	LC ₅₀	0.00034	Hoke et al. 1997
DDD ^a	Fish: Rainbow trout	Acute (96 hours)	LC ₅₀	0.07	Mayer and Ellersieck 1986
DDDª	Fish: Fathead minnow	Acute (96 hours)	LC ₅₀	4.4	Mayer and Ellersieck 1986
DDDª	Fish: Channel catfish	Acute (96 hours)	LC ₅₀	1.5	Mayer and Ellersieck 1986
DDDª	Fish: Bluegill	Acute (96 hours)	LC ₅₀	0.042	Mayer and Ellersieck 1986
DDDª	Fish: Largemouth bass	Acute (96 hours)	LC ₅₀	0.042	Mayer and Ellersieck 1986
DDDª	Fish: Walleye	Acute (96 hours)	LC ₅₀	0.014	Mayer and Ellersieck 1986

^a Includes both mitotane and *p,p'*-DDD.

While there is evidence that mitotane can affect steroid genesis and cortical secretion in fish, birds and mammals (Ilan and Yaron 1980; Brandt et al. 1992; Jönsson et al. 1993; Jönsson et al. 1994; Lund 1994; Leblond and Hontela 1999; Benguira et al. 2002; Lacroix and Hontela 2003), the most sensitive empirical endpoint for mitotane itself was the effect on abnormal growth in the purple sea urchin as described below.

The effects of mitotane on echinoderm physiology, reproduction and development were tested to determine if they could impede the normal development of two species of sea urchin larvae (*Strongylocentrotus purpuratus* and *Lyyechinus anamesus*) (Roepke et al. 2005). Mitotane was dissolved in dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO) and added to the test vials, resulting in concentrations of 0.005, 0.05, and 0.1 mg/L. Following a 96-hour test, larvae were separated into five categories (normal, delayed, abnormal, elongated and

 $^{^{\}rm b}$ LC₅₀: The concentration of a substance that is estimated to be lethal to 50% of the test organisms.

^c EC₅₀: The concentration of a substance that is estimated to cause some effect (immobilization) on 50% of the test organisms.

^d LC₉₅: The concentration of a substance that is estimated to be lethal to 95% of the test organisms.

^e LC₁₀₀: The concentration of a substance that is estimated to be lethal to 100% of the test organisms.

hatched), and were compared (using a microscope) to the standard morphology of the normal pluteus larvae in the seawater controls. Successful development to the pluteus larval stage, compared to control organisms, was used to define concentration-response relationships. The EC_{50} for mitotane was estimated to be 0.0676 mg/L in *S. purpuratus*; similar results were observed with *L. anamesus* (data not shown). Higher levels of mitotane resulted in increasing percentages of delayed and morphologically abnormal larvae, and at 0.16 mg/L, unhatched embryos constituted 30% of all embryos counted (Roepke et al. 2005).

With respect to the biochemical test results, the capacity to mount a neuroendocrine stress response is a fundamental characteristic of a healthy organism as it allows the organism to cope with stressful situations threatening homeostasis. Acute stress conditions activate the teleost hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis to release cortisol (Benguira et al. 2002). Resulting effects may include impaired growth and renal function as well as gonadosomatic effects. Impairment of the normal capacity to elevate plasma cortisol in response to acute stress has been observed in fish chronically exposed to some contaminants, including mitotane (Benguira et al. 2002).

Cortisol stress response was investigated in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) exposed to mitotane by inducing confinement stress in organisms (Leblond and Hontela 1999; Lacroix and Hontela 2003; Benguira et al. 2002). A dose-dependent decrease in plasma cortisol was evident on day 14 post injection, indicating that, unlike controls, fish treated with mitotane at 5 mg/kg had a reduced capacity to elevate plasma cortisol levels (Benguira et al. 2002). The effects of mitotane on cell viability and cortisol secretion in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) interrenal cells have also been examined using a 60-minute *in vitro* assay (Leblond and Hontela 1999). The LC₅₀ and EC₅₀ for mitotane were calculated to be 123.37 and 41.60 mg/L, respectively (Leblond and Hontela 1999).

Similar effects were observed by another group in the interrenal tissues of *Sarotherodon aureus* following both *in vivo* and *in vitro* exposures of mitotane. In this study, the inhibition of cortisol secretion by mitotane was observed *in vitro* in superfused interrenal cells at concentrations as low as 0.1 mg/L (Ilan and Yaron 1980). However, in another study that administered a 75-mg/kg oral dose of mitotane to Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*), no effect on the physiological stress response (measured by post-stress plasma ACTH and cortisol levels) was observed 28 days after administration (Jorgensen et al. 2001).

The modelling data shown in Table 8-2 indicate that mitotane is predicted to have high acute and chronic toxicity to fish, *Daphnia* and algae. In ECOSAR (2008), mitotane was modelled as a neutral organic. Fish were indicated to be the most sensitive with a chronic effect value of 0.013 mg/L predicted for fish exposed for 30 days. The K_{ow} used for modelling was within the model's domain of applicability (log K_{ow} < 8.00). In CPOPs (2008), mitotane was modelled as a

"base surface narcotic" and it was 89% within the structural domain of the model for the *Daphnia* prediction, and 94% in the structural domain for the fish prediction.

The effects of mitotane and its positional isomer, p,p'-DDD, on early fourth-instar mosquito (*Anopheles quadrimaculatus*) larvae were tested in acetone-water suspensions. Percent mortality was measured after 24 and 48 hours for concentrations between 0.0025 and 0.005 mg/L of mitotane (Deonier and Jones 1946). After 24 hours, exposure to 0.005, 0.0033 and 0.0025 mg/L mitotane resulted in 88%, 68% and 58% mortality in mosquito larvae, respectively. Similar toxicity effects are observed after 48 hours; 0.005, 0.0033 and 0.0025 mg/L mitotane resulted in 100%, 93% and 95% mortality of mosquito larvae, respectively. It is believed that the observed effects of p,p'-DDD on mosquito larvae may not be representative of mitotane toxicity. Therefore, although values are presented, they are not included in the quantitative assessment.

Aquatic toxicity of p,p'-DDD to *Chironomus tentans* was assessed in another water-only 10-day toxicity test (Phipps et al. 1995). The LC₅₀ was estimated to be 0.00018 mg/L after adjusting for control mortality. Hoke et al. (1997) conducted a similar study with the same exposure period and aquatic organism as Phipps et al. (1995). Hoke et al. (1997) obtained a LC₅₀ of 0.00034 mg/L. Bonner and Wells (1987) assessed the chronic aquatic toxicity of p,p'-DDD and other p,p'-DDT derivatives on flat worms (*Phagocata gracilis*). The 10-day LC₅₀ value was 0.6 mg/L for p,p'-DDD. Interestingly, the toxicity value was lower than the same endpoint measured for p,p'-DDE (2.63 mg/L) and p,p'-DDT (3.98 mg/L).

The survival in *Daphnia magna* following exposure to DDD was tested at a 26hour exposure. The median lethal concentration (LC₅₀) for DDD was measured to be 0.0046 mg/L (Frear and Boyd 1967). Aquatic toxicity of p,p'-DDD to H. azteca was assessed in another water-only 10-day toxicity test (Hoke et al. 1994). The LC₅₀ was estimated to be 0.00019 mg/L after adjusting for control mortality. Phipps et al. (1995) achieved the same result in a similar toxicity test. Hoke et al. (1994) also measured the aquatic toxicity of p,p'-DDD to Hyallela azteca in a porewater 10-day toxicity test. The LC₅₀ value obtained was 0.00108 mg/L. The chronic aquatic toxicity of DDD was tested for two species of amphipods, Hyallela azteca and Diporeia spp., at 10 days and 28 days for Diporeia and 10 days only for *Hyallela azteca* (Lotufo et al. 2000). The effect observed in amphipods was immobilization; death was assumed when organisms were completely immobile. The 10-day EC₅₀ and LC₅₀ values in *Diporeia* spp. were 0.00287 mg/L and 0.01168 mg/L, respectively. The Hyallela azteca 10-day test of Lutufo et al. (2000) in porewater resulted in a LC₅₀ value of 0.00077 mg/L, slightly lower than the results obtained by Hoke et al. (1994) in a similar study. The 28-day EC₅₀ was not conclusive, but the LC₅₀ compared to a similar experiment conducted for 10 days clearly shows that exposure for additional time increases the effect on organisms. This study supports the assumption that mitotane may have significant long-term effects.

Mayer and Ellersieck (1986) conducted a series of acute toxicity measurements of DDD on six fish species (rainbow trout, fathead minnow, channel catfish, bluegill, largemouth bass and walleye). The 96-h LC_{50} s varied between 0.014 and 4.4 mg/L.

The chirality of the mitotane molecule, as discussed previously, indicated a potential for enantiomer-selective metabolism. Given that enantiomer-specific activity was not detected in rainbow trout (Konwick et al. 2006) and found only in mammals (Cantillana et al. 2009), Konwick et al. (2006) also found that depuration rates of mitotane and p,p'-DDD were also very similar. This finding suggest that the analogues have similar metabolic activity in fishes. A comparable metabolism may be an indicator of similar toxicity behaviour in aquatic organisms.

In summary, experimental and modelled data for mitotane and its analogue indicate that this substance is expected to cause acute and chronic harm to several species of aquatic organisms at low concentrations.

8.1.2 Other environmental compartments

No empirical data on the toxicity of mitotane in sediment to sediment-dwelling organisms were identified. However, empirical data for the analogue p,p'-DDD were available and are summarized below (Table 8-4).

8.1.2.1 Sediment toxicity

Table 8-4. Empirical data for sediment toxicity of the mitotane analogue DDD

Analogue	Test organism	Type of test	Endpoint	Value (µg/goc°)	Reference
p,p'-DDD	Nematodes	Chronic (12 weeks)	IC ₂₅ ^a	260	Ingersoll et al. 2005
p,p'-DDD	Nematodes	Chronic (12 weeks)	IC ₅₀ ^b	400	Ingersoll et al. 2005
p,p'-DDD	Oligochaetes	Chronic (12 weeks)	IC ₂₅	> 400	Ingersoll et al. 2005
p,p'-DDD	Oligochaetes	Chronic (12 weeks)	IC ₅₀	> 400	Ingersoll et al. 2005
p,p'-DDD	Chironomids	Chronic (12 weeks)	IC ₂₅	47	Ingersoll et al. 2005
p,p'-DDD	Chironomids	Chronic (12 weeks)	IC ₅₀	85	Ingersoll et al. 2005

^a IC₂₅: Concentration across DDD-spiked sediments inducing 25% inhibition in colonizing trays abundance.

^c goc: grams of organic carbon

^b IC₅₀: Concentration across DDD-spiked sediments inducing 50% inhibition in colonizing trays abundance.

Ingersoll et al. 2005 evaluated the abundance of several taxa of invertebrates in a 12-week colonization study. Sediment-spiked concentrations of p,p'-DDD (dissolved in acetone) ranged from 3.0 to 400 μ g p,p'-DDD/goc (grams of organic carbon). Negative and solvent controls were included. No significant differences in the abundance of invertebrates were observed between the two controls. The abundance of nematodes was significantly reduced at 400 μ g p,p'-DDD/goc, and chironomid numbers were significantly reduced at 120 and 400 μ g p,p'-DDD/goc. The IC₂₅ values ranged from 47 to > 400 μ g p,p'-DDD/goc, and IC₅₀ values ranged from 85 to > 400 μ g p,p'-DDD/goc (Ingersoll et al. 2005). This study indicates that a close analogue of mitotane can affect the abundance of several aquatic invertebrate taxa exposed to contaminated sediments. Therefore, mitotane is expected to cause similar effects when present at similar concentrations in sediment (Table 8-4).

8.1.2.1.1 Terrestrial algal toxicity

In soil, empirical data for mitotane and the analogue p,p'-DDD were available (Table 8-5). Microalgae are used as surrogates for screening chemicals in aqueous toxicity assays because they are generally more sensitive than vascular plants (Chung et al. 2007). Algae live in humid soils as well as in the water environment (Wehr and Sheath 2002), and they make up an important part of the soil ecosystem (Chung et al. 2007). A 4-day solid-phase microalgal bioassay was developed to screen for the phytotoxic effects of DDD in the terrestrial ecosystem using three species of microalgae (Selenastrum capricornutum, Chlorococcum hypnosporum and soil microalgae Chlorococcum meneghini). The test medium was washed quartz sand. The effects of DDD on fluorescence values, algal cell density, and chlorophyll a concentrations were observed and the EC₅₀ and EC₁₀ values for each species were derived from dose-response relationships. C. meneghini was the algae species most sensitive to the effects of DDD on cell density (EC₅₀ = 179 mg/kg), and chlorophyll a content (EC₅₀ = 150 mg/kg). Cell density is directly related to the growth and reproduction of the algae. The cell density and the fluorescence results indicated that the efficiency of energy transfer from light harvesting protein to photosystem II was reduced under the influence of DDD. The results of these assays were compared to the US EPA standard seed germination/root elongation tests in Lolium perenne. The EC₅₀ values with DDD for seed germination and root length were greater than 1000 mg/kg (Chung et al. 1997). Therefore, it was found that those microalgae assays were more sensitive.

Table 8-5. Empirical data for toxicity of mitotane and its analogue DDD to terrestrial organisms

Substance	Test	Type of	Endpoint	Value	Reference
	organism	test		(mg/kg)	
DDD ^a	Selenastrum	Chronic	EC ₅₀ ^b	246-> 500	Chung et al.
	capricornutum	(4 days)			2007
DDDa	Selenastrum	Chronic	EC ₁₀ ^c	0.77-> 6.5	Chung et al.

Substance	Test	Type of	Endpoint	Value	Reference
	organism	test		(mg/kg)	
	capricornutum	(4 days)			2007
DDD ^a	Chlorococcum	Chronic	EC ₅₀	457–	Chung et al.
	hypnosporum	(4 days)		> 1000	2007
DDD ^a	Chlorococcum	Chronic	EC ₁₀	57-> 1000	Chung et al.
	hypnosporum	(4 days)			2007
DDD ^a	Chlorococcum	Chronic	EC ₅₀	150-> 700	Chung et al.
	meneghini	(4 days)			2007
DDD ^a	Chlorococcum	Chronic	EC ₁₀	13-> 35	Chung et al.
	meneghini	(4 days)			2007
DDD ^a	Lolium	Chronic	EC ₅₀	> 1000	Chung et al.
	perenne	(5 days)			2007
DDD ^a	Lolium	Chronic	EC ₁₀	114–	Chung et al.
a Landarda a bartha a sa	perenne	(5 days)		> 1000	2007

^a Includes both *o,p'*-DDD and *p,p'*-DDD.

8.1.3 Toxicity conclusions

The acute and chronic toxicity tests for mitotane and its analogue, *p,p'*-DDD, with fish, molluscs, insects and crustaceans indicate a potential for effects to a variety of aquatic organisms at low concentrations. Insect larvae were the most sensitive class of aquatic organisms tested, with chronic effect concentrations as low as 0.00018 mg/L for midge larvae. This effect value of *p,p'*-DDD on insect larvae, although the most sensitive, was not considered to be suitable for risk quotient analysis, as there are indications that mitotane effect may differ from its analogue for insects. Crustaceans were a very sensitive organism class, with chronic effect concentration of 0.00019 mg/L for *Hyalella azteca*. Biochemical tests performed on fish indicate that adrenal cells and liver cells may be affected by mitotane at moderate concentrations.

8.2 Ecological exposure assessment

Data concerning concentrations of mitotane in the Canadian environment as well as in some other parts of the world have been identified (Tables 8-6 and 8-11). Given that many concentration data are available for mitotane, only results of more recent studies are presented, to represent current distributions in the environment. Most of the measured mitotane concentrations in sediment, air and soil are likely from historical pesticide use rather than the current prescription drug use.

^b EC50 – The concentration of a substance that is estimated to cause some effect on 50% of the test organisms.

^c EC10 – The concentration of a substance that is estimated to cause some effect on 10% of the test organisms.

Table 8-6. Concentrations of mitotane in air

		1	itotane in	1		
Location	Year	Detecti on limit (pg/m³)	Number of sample s (% of sample s over detecti on limit)	Concentr ation range (pg/m³)	Median (pg/m³)	Reference
Alert, Canada	1992– 1995	0.3	154 (6.9%)	0.024– 1.707	0.051	NatChem 2002
Alert, Canada	2002– 2007	0.05- 0.10	285 (14%)	d.l. – 1.599	0.061	Hung et al. 2010; Hayley Hung pers. comm., unreference d
Burnt Island, Egbert and Point Petre, Canada	2003	N/A	Unknow n (N/A)	d.l. – 1.354	0.248	NatChem 2002
Lethbridge, Lundbreck, Lacombe and Vegreville, Canada	1999– 2000	50	68 (0%)	<d.l.< td=""><td>N/A</td><td>Kumar 2001</td></d.l.<>	N/A	Kumar 2001
7 sites near Great Lakes, Canada	1996– 2003	N/A	Unknow n (N/A)	0.31–8.8 (gas phase)	(averag e) 2.08	Sun et al. 2006
Point Pelee, Canada	2004- 2005	0.3-0.7	18 (N/A)	5 cm above soil: 25- 360	(mean) 150	Kurt- Karakus et al. 2006
Point Pelee, Canada	2004- 2005	0.3-0.7	18 (N/A)	20 cm above soil: 20- 230	(mean) 120	Kurt- Karakus et al. 2006
Point Pelee, Canada	2004- 2005	0.3-0.7	18 (N/A)	72 cm above soil: 10- 110	(mean) 70	Kurt- Karakus et al. 2006

Location	Year	Detecti on limit (pg/m³)	Number of sample s (% of sample s over detecti on limit)	Concentr ation range (pg/m³)	Median (pg/m³)	Reference
Point Pelee, Canada	2004- 2005	0.3-0.7	18 (N/A)	200 cm above soil: 7-90	(mean) 40	Kurt- Karakus et al. 2006

N/A=not available

Table 8-7. Concentrations of mitotane in soil

Location	Year	Detec tion limit (µg/kg)	Numbe r of sample s	% of sampl es over detect ion limit	Concent ration range (µg/kg)	Median (μg/kg)	Referen ce
Okanaga n Valley and Fraser Valley, Canada	2000– 2001	1	11	73	d.l.–250	36	Bidleman et al. 2006
Bradford/ Holland Marsh, Canada	2004– 2005	1.1	Unknow n	N/A	N/A	(mean) 400) (mean) 1200	Kurt- Karakus et al. 2006 Meijer et al. (2003
Point Pelee, Canada	1997– 2006	0.58	275	N/A	d.l.– 11400 ^a	Geometri c mean: 40 ^a	Crowe and Smith 2007

a sum of *o,p'*-DDD and *p,p'*-DDD N/A=not available

Table 8-8. Concentrations of mitotane in surface water

Location	Year	Detect ion limit	Number of sample s	% of sample s over detecti on limit	Conce ntratio n range (ng/L)	Medi an	Reference
Okanagan Valley and Fraser Valley, Canada	2003 - 2005	0.001 ng/L	27	37	d.l.– 0.2	N/A	Environmen t Canada 2009a
Johnson creek basin, Oregon, United States	1998 - 2002	0.001 μg/L	32	0	<d.l.< td=""><td>N/A</td><td>Tanner and Lee 2004</td></d.l.<>	N/A	Tanner and Lee 2004

N/A=not available; dw=dry weight; d.l.=detection limit

Table 8-9. Concentrations of mitotane in precipitation

Location; year	Year	Detec tion limit	Numbe r of sample s	% of sample s over detectio n limit	Conce ntratio n range	Media n	Reference
Atlantic provinces, Canada	1995 - 2006	N/A	26	N/A	d.l.– 25.5 ng/L	8 ng/L	Environmen t Canada 2010

N/A=not available

Table 8-10. Concentrations of mitotane in sediment

Location	Ye ar	Detect ion limit	Number of sample s	% of samples over detection limit	Concentr ation range (µg/kg)	Median μg/kg)	Referen ce
Atlantic province s, Canada	19 95 - 20 06	N/A	55	N/A	d.l.–0.08 dw	0.003	Environm ent Canada 2010
20 states sampled, United States	19 92 - 19 95	1 µg/kg dw	350	11%	d.l.–150 dw	N/A	Wong et al. 2000

o,p'-DDT was not measured in sediments of the St. Lawrence River (Pham et al. 1993) but mitotane was detected. o,p'-DDT was present as a significant proportion of the DDT derivatives in the St. Lawrence River suspended particulate phase (Pham et al. 1993). It is expected that when o,p'-DDT settles on sediment, it is quickly degraded into mitotane. Garrison et al. (2000) demonstrated that o,p'-DDD is the major metabolite produced by degradation of o,p'-DDT in seawater sediments, while o,p'-DDE, the degradation product of o,p'-DDT in aerobic conditions (see Table 4-1), is present in a larger proportion in freshwater sediments (Wandiga et al. 2003).

In fact, for a large proportion of samples in all environmental compartments, mitotane is not detected. This could be due to high detection limits, especially in air. In addition, although there are an increasing number of countries restricting the use of DDT, there were no observed changes in atmospheric concentrations of mitotane between 1992–1995 (NatChem 2002) and 2002–2007 (Hung et al. 2010). Mitotane was detected in precipitation deposited in the Canadian Atlantic provinces where levels of mitotane were higher than those in surface water (see Tables 8-8 and 8-9). The atmosphere would seem to be an important vector of transportation for contamination in this area.

Relatively high mitotane concentrations were detected in soil in the intensive agricultural areas of the Okanagan Valley (British Columbia, Canada), Point Pelee (Ontario, Canada) and the Fraser Valley (British Columbia, Canada).

Data were found on mitotane and DDD isomer concentrations in aquatic organisms in Canada, the United States, and Greenland (Table 8-7). Concentrations of mitotane measured in organisms varied between 0.07 and 736 µg/kg wet weight (ww). The highest concentrations were generally found in the lipids of organisms.

Table 8-11. Concentrations of mitotane in biota

Organism	Location	Year	Tissu e samp led	Numb er of sampl es	Conce ntratio n range (ww) µg/kg	Medi an (μg/k g)	Referenc e
Blue whale	St- Lawrence River, Canada	1992– 1995	Whole (lipids)	Unkno wn	3.7- 736 ^a	130ª	Trent University 2002
Common carp (<i>Cyprinus</i>	Las Vegas Bay, United States	1999– 2000	Whole	129	5–122	7.9	USGS 2000

Organism	Location	Year	Tissu e samp led	Numb er of sampl es	Conce ntratio n range (ww) µg/kg	Medi an (μg/k g)	Referenc e
carpio)							
Large mouth bass and Florida gar	Hillsboro Canal, South Florida, United States	1995	Whole	Unkno wn	5–34	N/A	USGS 2002
Fish (8 species)	Lake Michigan, United States	1990	Whole comp osite fishes	23	0.13– 81.70	5.83	Giesy et al. 2004
Fish	20 states sampled, United States	1992– 1995	Whole	231	5–360	N/A	Wong et al. 2000
Bivalve	20 states sampled, United States;	1992– 1995	Whole	118	5–20	N/A	Wong et al. 2000
Salmon	Alaska, United States	2001– 2002	Whole	Unkno wn	0.07– 0.91	N/A	Alaska Departme nt of Environm ental Conservat ion 2010
Fish; Greenland halibut, smalleyed rabbit-fish, redfish, jelly wolf-fish, roughhead grenadier, black dogfish, blue hake, tusk	Davis Strait, West Greenland, Denmark	1992	Whole	Unkno wn	0.8-28	(mea n) 7.5	Berg et al. 1997
Lake trout	Ontario	1999-	Fish	74	d.l.–	4.51	Personal

Organism	Location	Year	Tissu e samp led	Numb er of sampl es	Conce ntratio n range (ww) µg/kg	Medi an (µg/k g)	Referenc e
	Lake, Michigan Lake, Huron Lake, Superior Lake, ON, Canada and United States	2000	composite		47.4		communic ation between the Ecological Assessme nt Division, Environm ent Canada, U.S. Environm ental Protection Agency, Great Lakes National Program Office and Environm ent Canada, Canada Centre for Inland Waters, unreferen ced ^b
Walleye	Erie Lake, ON, Canada and United States	1999- 2000	Fish comp osite	13	d.l.– 3.28	1.64	Personal communic ation between the Ecological Assessme nt Division, Environm

Organism	Location	Year	Tissu	Numb	Conce	Medi	Referenc
			е	er of	ntratio	an	е
			samp	sampl	n	(µg/k	
			led	es	range	g)	
					(ww)		
					μg/kg		
							ent
							Canada,
							_ U.S.
							Environm
							ental
							Protection
							Agency,
							Great
							Lakes
							National
							Program
							Office and
							Environm
							ent
							Canada,
							Canada
							Centre for Inland
							Waters, unreferen
							ced ^b
Figh (12	St-	1005					Lalibartá
Fish (13 species)	Lawrence River, QC,	1995- 1997	Whole	156	<1–26 ^a	1.5 ^a	Laliberté 2003
sheries)	Canada	1991					2003

^a sum of o,p'-DDD and p,p'-DDD.

8.2.1 Releases from use of mitotane as a prescription drug

Mitotane is present in a prescription drug and can be released to wastewater following human excretion of un-metabolizedunmetabolized mitotane. Mitotane is only partially removed from wastewater during treatment and, as such, it can be released to surface water as part of wastewater effluent. Concentrations of mitotane in surface water near discharge points of wastewater treatment systems were predicted to evaluate the risk of this substance to aquatic organisms. These predicted environmental concentrations (PECs) were calculated using the following equation:

^b with the permission of the US Environmental Protection Agency, Great Lakes National Program Office, Chicago, Illinois, United States and Environment Canada, Canada Centre for Inland Waters, Burlington, Canada

d.l.=detection limit

 $PEC = (1000 \times Q \times L) \times (1 - R) / (F \times D)$

where:

PEC: Predicted concentration of mitotane in surface water close to a point of discharge of a wastewater treatment system (mg/L)

1000: Conversion factor (mg/g)

Q: Mass of mitotane consumed daily by one patient (g/day)

L: Loss to wastewater (fraction)

R: Wastewater treatment system removal rate (fraction)

F: Wastewater treatment system effluent flow (L/day)

D: Receiving surface water dilution factor (dimensionless)

As the drug is prescribed to a limited number of patients in Canada, mitotane is expected to be released to only a few sites at any point in time. Given that the locations of the wastewater treatment systems receiving inputs of mitotane are unknown and since the number of patients using this drug across the country is low, the daily drug dose for a single patient (minus the metabolized and/or absorbed fraction) was used as the mass released to a given wastewater treatment system to identify the proportion of discharge points that would potentially show a risk if there was use and excretion of mitotane by one resident in that area. Predicted environmental concentrations for approximately 1000 discharge points for wastewater treatment system across Canada were calculated. The following inputs and assumptions were used:

- an average daily dose taken by patients of 9 grams (Bristol-Myers Squibb Company 2010);
- release to sewer of 60% of the daily dose (not absorbed and unmetabolized) recommended for a patient;
- wastewater treatment system removal rate estimated at 87% for aerated and facultative lagoons (estimated by STP-EX (2008)), 54.6% for primary only treatment (estimated by ASTreat 1.0 (2006)) and 68.1 % for primarysecondary combined treatment (estimated by SimpleTreat 3.0 (1997));
- receiving surface water dilution factor in the range of 1 to 10.

The treatment period ranges from 4 to 48 months (Hutter and Kayhoe 1966; Baudin et al. 2001; Terzolo, Angeli et al. 2007; Attivi 2010; Brunton et al. 2005; ASHP 2010). Although the prescription drug is administered for a variable period, it is estimated that the average treatment may last over the whole year. Between

100 and 1000 kg of mitotane is used in Canada in a year, and the number of patients using the drug annually is estimated to be between 30 and 304.

The predicted environmental concentrations (PECs) of mitotane in water bodies close to wastewater system discharge points were estimated to be in the range of 8.8E-5 to 0.25 mg/L. Additional details on how PECs were calculated are described in Environment Canada (2013).

8.3 Characterization of ecological risk

The approach taken in this ecological screening assessment was to examine relevant scientific and technical information and to develop conclusions using a weight-of-evidence approach and precaution as required under CEPA. Lines of evidence considered include information on sources and quantities of releases, persistence, bioaccumulation, ecotoxicity and results of risk quotient calculations.

8.3.1 Potential for releases

Up until the 1970s, DDT was applied in large quantities to land and sprayed in air in Canada. Under anaerobic conditions in soil, water and sediment, *o,p'*-DDT degrades to *o,p'*-DDD (mitotane). Results from fugacity modelling (Table 7-1) show that mitotane released to air and on land will ultimately reside in soil or sediment. Historical use of DDT and dicofol likely resulted in widespread, low concentrations in all environmental compartments. Ambient monitoring data from Tables 8-6 to 8-10 are deemed to result essentially from past historical use rather than current drug use. Mitotane was detected in biota for various species, suggesting environmental exposure to mitotane or one of its DDT parent compounds.

The current use of mitotane is as a chemotherapeutic agent. Given this use, mitotane may be released down-the-drain to water via wastewater treatment systems. Because of mitotane's low solubility, relatively low volatility and high log K_{oc} , mitotane released to the environment from usage as a prescription drug is expected to be found in water, in biosolids from wastewater treatment system sludge, and in sediments in proximity to local point source discharges.

Concentration of mitotane in the ambient environment (i.e., not close to wastewater treatment system discharge points) are expected to be largely the result of historical pesticide use rather than the ongoing pharmaceutical use of the substance.

8.3.2 Persistence

In sediments, the primary anaerobic degradation half-life of mitotane was estimated by Huang et al. (2001) to be > 250 days, after an initial period of relatively rapid removal. This is consistent with modelling results (Table 7-2). All

degradation models suggest that mitotane biodegrades very slowly in the aquatic compartment. Extrapolation to soils and sediment indicates that degradation is also very slow under aerobic conditions in those compartments. The available data thus support the conclusion that mitotane meets the criteria for persistence in air, water, sediment and soil as set out in the *Persistence and Bioaccumulation Regulations* (Canada 2000).

Recent measurements of mitotane concentrations in different media that are likely associated with its historical use as a pesticide confirm its presence and persistence in the environment. There is also the possibility of long-range atmospheric transport as suggested by both modelling and empirical evidence of the presence of mitotane in the Canadian Arctic. However, this may also be due to transport of *o,p'*-DDT followed by subsequent degradation.

8.3.3 Bioaccumulation

Empirical bioconcentration and bioaccumulation factors were found for the mitotane analogue, p,p'-DDD. These data and modelled mitotane estimates indicate that mitotane is bioaccumulative in aquatic organisms. A biomagnification factor of nearly threefold in rainbow trout was calculated for mitotane showing that mitotane taken through food uptake is likely to be amplified through the piscivorous aquatic food chain, but likely not in birds and mammals. Furthermore, concentrations measured in higher-tier aquatic predators were generally higher than what was found in lower trophic level organisms (Table 8-7). BSAF values calculated for sediment-dwelling organisms were generally greater than 1, confirming that mitotane may bioaccumulate in sediment-dwelling organisms. Empirical BCF and BAF data for p,p'-DDD ranged from 16 720 to 892 473 L/kg, and modelled BCFs and BAFs ranged from 3467 to 148 936 L/kg. Therefore, mitotane meets the criteria for bioaccumulation potential (BCF or BAF \geq 5000), as set out in the *Persistence and Bioaccumulation Regulations* (Canada 2000).

8.3.4 Qualitative evaluation

There are special concerns with substances that are highly persistent, bioaccumulative and inherently toxic (i.e., PBiT). This is because the degree of exposure to substances such as mitotane, or *o,p*-DDD, cannot be easily quantified and remains uncertain. Persistent substances remain in the environment for long periods of time, increasing the probability and duration of exposure. This is of particular concern because releases of small amounts of persistent and bioaccumulative substances may lead to relatively high concentrations in organisms over time, which may result in effects not currently measured for mitotane (e.g., developmental toxicity in vertebrates). Some bioaccumulative and persistent substances may also biomagnify through the food chain, resulting in internal exposures for top predators. Since they are widespread, several different persistent and bioaccumulative substances may be

present simultaneously in the tissues of organisms, increasing the likelihood and potential severity of harm.

8.3.5 Risk quotient analysis

A risk quotient analysis integrating estimates of exposure with toxicity information was performed for surface water near sources of release.

The pharmaceutical use scenario yielded PECs ranging from 8.8E-5 to 0.25 mg/L (Environment Canada 2013). A predicted no-effect concentration (PNEC) was derived from the chronic toxicity value of 0.00019 mg/L as the most sensitive experimental value for crustaceans for the analogue p,p'-DDD for Hyallela azteca. A PNEC of 0.000019 mg/L is obtained by dividing the chronic toxicity value by an assessment factor of 10 to account for extrapolation from a laboratory LC_{50} to a predicted no-effects concentration for sensitive species in the field. Because of its persistent and bioaccumulative characteristics, the risk quotient calculations for mitotane may underestimate actual long-term risks associated with food-chain transfer.

On the basis of data for approximately 1000 wastewater treatment systems, it is predicted that the PECs for mitotane may exceed the PNEC near the point of wastewater discharge in about 81% of the receiving water bodies across Canada resulting from a single patient using mitotane (Environment Canada 2009b). However, it is recognized that there is a limited number of patients using mitotane in Canada at any time. Statistically, 81% of the areas where the estimated 30 to 304 patients reside may be at risk of potential ecological harm for aquatic organisms. Therefore, it is estimated that harm to aquatic organisms near the point of wastewater discharge could occur at 25 to 250 receiving water bodies annually through the use of mitotane as a prescription drug.

No environmental monitoring data specific to sediment-dwelling organisms and close to point sources of discharge are available for this substance. For mitotane, a risk quotient based on exposure in sediment porewater could not be calculated. Current evidence from spiked sediment tests for the analogue of mitotane suggests that sediment macroinvertebrates may be much less sensitive than pelagic or bentho-pelagic organisms, such as epibenthic crustaceans.

8.3.6 Summary

The overall presence of mitotane in the environment is largely due to historical pesticide use. However, given its reported use as a prescription drug, there is current release of this substance into the Canadian environment. Between 100 and 1000 kg of mitotane is used per year in Canada, 60% of which is estimated to be released to sewers. While these releases likely have a negligible influence on the overall environmental load of mitotane, PEC calculations indicate that levels in surface water receiving effluent from wastewater treatment systems

where patients release mitotane frequently exceed the predicted lowest effect levels for aquatic organisms. Furthermore, mitotane is highly persistent in soil, sediment, air and water. Once released in the environment, mitotane may be transported over moderate distances in air and has been detected in remote areas such as the Arctic, largely from transport of the parent compound, DDT, on suspended particles. While measured levels of mitotane in the environment from historical loading of DDT and dicofol are generally low, mitotane has a long residence time in the environment. Since the onset of effects in aquatic organisms occurs at very low concentrations, continued exposure to this substance remains of concern given its ability to readily accumulate in the tissues of organisms and be distributed over a wide geographical area. Continued exposure and accumulation of mitotane may result in chronic sublethal effects not currently measured in toxicity tests.

Comparison of no effect thresholds to predicted surface water concentrations close to discharge points of wastewater treatment systems suggests current use of mitotane as a pharmaceutical is expected to result in ecological harm. Historical use as a pesticide also presents an unquantifiable long-term exposure requiring consideration of additional precaution to account for the potential of unknown and potentially irreversible effects in organisms. Mitotane, therefore, has the potential to cause ecological harm at a wide range of spatial and temporal scales from different sources of release to the Canadian environment.

8.4 Uncertainties in evaluation of ecological risk

There is a lack of information on the sources of environmental concentrations of mitotane in Canada. The proportion of mitotane concentrations in water, sediment and biota in the ambient environment (Tables 8-6 and 8-7) resulting from its use as a prescription drug—as opposed to resulting from historical application of the pesticide DDT—is expected to be low. Given that use of the drug is localized, compared to wide-spread contamination from former use of DDT, the resulting concentrations near sources of wastewater discharge are expected to be higher as a result of current uses.

The bioaccumulation assessment is limited by the number of available empirical bioaccumulation data. This necessitated that an analogue and DDD (unknown proportion of mitotane and p,p'-DDD) be used. The suitability of p,p'-DDD as an analogue of mitotane for bioaccumulation was confirmed for invertebrates, fish and cetaceans, but was deemed unsuitable for terrestrial mammals and birds because of critical differences in the metabolization of the substances. Therefore, bioaccumulation of p,p'-DDD for mammals and birds was not considered in this assessment. Modelled bioaccumulation and bioconcentration factors were also derived and, although all predictions using models have some degree of error, the metabolism-corrected model outputs confirmed that mitotane, given its structural characteristics, can be expected to have a high bioaccumulation

potential. Empirical results for the analogue were in agreement with modelled data. This further confirms the validity of the modelled values for mitotane.

Regarding ecotoxicity, some of the evidence of harm relates to biochemical endpoints such as cell viability and endocrine effects. These effects add to the weight of evidence indicating that this substance has the potential to be highly hazardous. There are uncertainties regarding the representativeness of p,p'-DDD effects on organisms other than invertebrates and fish for mitotane. Mitotane has endocrine effects, while p,p'-DDD does not. Mitotane is metabolized differently by mammals and birds than the analogue. Consequently, data on the ecotoxicity of the analogue was not used for terrestrial organisms.

Uncertainties are also associated with the fraction of the substance that is released during use. Moy (1961) found that 60% of the drug was found unchanged in human feces. Although no study was found that disputed this finding, the method used by Moy (1961) to detect mitotane in feces is not highly specific to mitotane. These uncertainties were addressed by making conservative assumptions using the best information available (i.e., 60%). There is also high variability in the daily dose of mitotane used to treat adrenocortical carcinoma. The dose is dependent on the patient's response to the drug, the objective being to reach a plasma level of between 14 and 20 mg/mL (i.e., the maximum tolerable dose). The product sheet for the prescription drug (Bristol-Myers Squibb Company 2010) indicates that the dose averages between 8 and 10 grams per day. Many studies describe methods to improve absorption by the human body in order to decrease the dose required and the side effects (Attivi 2010). However, none of these methods seem to be representative of the current use of mitotane or to have passed the clinical stage. Therefore, a typical value, estimated on the basis of the average dose, was used in the quantitative risk characterization.

The confidentiality of the information provided by the pharmaceutical industry during the public comment period excludes the possibility of using discrete quantities for the quantitative assessment. Therefore, the higher end of the range of the number of patients using the drug in Canada may be overestimated.

The locations of the release sites vary, depending on the patients' place of residence. Therefore, a statistical approach was taken to estimate the number of sites that would be expected to present a risk if a patient in the area was served by the wastewater treatment system. In high population areas, it is likely that more than one patient is served by the same wastewater treatment system. If so, the maximum risk quotient calculated in this assessment may be underestimated, although the number of sites that present risk to aquatic organisms would proportionately decrease. The quantitative results thus provide only a general indication of the magnitude of the potential risk to aquatic organisms.

9. Potential to cause harm to human health

9.1 Exposure assessment

9.1.1 Environmental media

Upper-bounding estimates of total daily intake of mitotane by the Canadian general population are presented in Appendix B.

The general population may be exposed to mitotane indirectly through environmental media. Empirical data on concentrations of mitotane in environmental media in Canada and elsewhere were identified and are presented in Tables 8-6 to 8-10 of the Ecological Exposure Assessment section. Most measured mitotane concentrations presented in Table 8-6 to 8-10 are likely to be from historical pesticide uses.

Mitotane was detected in ambient air at various sites sampled around the Great Lakes between 1996 and 2003 (Sun et al. 2006). Concentrations ranged from 0.31 to 8.8 pg/m³ in the gas phase (Sun et al. 2006). It was also detected in air samples collected from various heights above agricultural soil in southern Ontario (Kurt-Karakus et al. 2006). Maximum concentrations reported at 5, 20, 72 and 200 cm above soil were 360, 230, 110 and 90 pg/m³, respectively (Kurt-Karakus et al. 2006). However, it was not detected in ambient air at four sites in an agricultural area of Alberta (limit of detection [LOD] 0.05 ng/m³; Kumar 2001).

Mitotane was detected in surface water in the Okanagan Valley and Fraser Valley, British Columbia (Environment Canada 2009a). Concentrations ranged from < 0.001 to 0.2 ng/L (Environment Canada 2009a). Similarly, Pham et al. (1996) reported mitotane in surface water sampled from the St. Lawrence River and its tributaries up to 0.232 ng/L. However, it was not detected in surface water at multiple sites in the Johnson Creek Basin, Oregon, between 1988 and 2002 (LOD 0.001 μ g/L; Tanner and Lee 2004). Mitotane was also detected at concentrations of up to 25.2 ng/L in precipitation samples collected in the Atlantic provinces of Canada between 1995 and 2006 (Environment Canada 2010).

Mitotane was detected in agricultural and orchard soils in British Columbia at concentrations of < 1 to 250 μ g/kg (Bidleman et al. 2006). It was also detected in agricultural soils in Southern Ontario at a concentration of 400 ng/g (Kurt-Karakus et al. 2006). There were also other reports of DDD in soil, but they did not differentiate between o,p'-DDD (mitotane) and p,p'-DDD (an insecticide which has not been registered for use in Canada since 1978; personal communication from Health Canada Pest Management Regulatory Agency, Health Canada, to Existing Substances Risk Assessment Bureau, Health Canada, 2010; unreferenced). For example, Crowe and Smith (2007) reported a range of < 1 to 11.4 mg/kg of DDD in soil sampled from the same region.

There were no reports of mitotane in foods other than fish in Canada. However, it has been reported in foods elsewhere. Mitotane has been detected (3 to 78 μ g/kg) in cheese in Spain (Bentabol and Jodral 1995). In a total diet study carried out in 1990–1991 in Spain, DDD concentrations were very low (< 1 to 7 μ g/kg) in samples of 13 food groups (Urieta et al. 1996). It is important to note that the authors of that study did not differentiate between o,p'-DDD (mitotane) and p,p'-DDD. In another total diet study, also from Spain, concentrations of total DDT (which include o,p'-DDD) were a maximum of 9.9 μ g/kg wet weight in fish (Lazara et al. 1996).

Mitotane has been detected in whales and fish at various sites throughout the United States, in Greenland (Denmark) and in Canada (see Ecological Exposure Assessment, Table 8-11). Additionally, mitotane has been reported in 11 consumer fish species from South China at a mean concentration of 4.4 μ g/kg wet weight (Meng et al. 2009). The mitotane concentrations in fish reported by Giesy et al. (1994) were considered the most relevant to Canada given the location of sampling. In that 1990 study, mitotane was detected at a range of 0.13 to 81.70 μ g/kg in fish (Giesy et al. 1994). It should be noted that the three rivers from which fish were collected in Michigan are Great Lakes influenced (Giesy et al. 1994).

Upper-bounding estimates of intakes of mitotane from ambient air, indoor air, drinking water, food and soil were derived on the basis of the environmental concentrations reported in the literature. They are summarized in Appendix B. The total upper-bounding estimates range from 0.0016 μ g/kg-bw/day (kilograms-body weight per day) for infants (0 to 6 months) to 0.022 μ g/kg-bw/day for children aged 0.5 to 4 years (see Appendix B).

9.1.2 Products available to consumers

There were no reports under section 71 for the use of mitotane in consumer products in Canada (Canada 2009a), and exposure to the general population from use of consumer products is therefore not expected. Mitotane is registered for use in Canada as an oral chemotherapeutic agent used in the treatment of certain cancers of the adrenal gland (DPD 2010). Direct exposure from use of mitotane as a therapeutic product is addressed under the *Food and Drug Regulations* (Canada 1978).

9.2 Health effects assessment

Appendix C contains a summary of the available health effects information for mitotane.

No classifications or assessments of the health effects of mitotane by national or international regulatory agencies were identified.

Mitotane did not induce mutation in *Salmonella typhimurium* (Mortelmans et al. 1986; Buselmaier et al. 1972). An unspecified isomer of mitotane did not induce unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary cultures of rat, mouse or Syrian hamster hepatocytes (Maslansky and Williams 1981). Mixed results were obtained for induction of chromosomal aberrations in cultured rodent cells; however, mitotane did not induce transformation in mouse embryo cells or sister chromatid exchange in Chinese hamster ovary cells (Galloway et al. 1987; Langenbach and Gingell 1975; Palmer et al. 1972). *In vivo*, mitotane induced selective increase in lung DNA synthesis, but showed negative results in the liver (Lund et al. 1990). According to the authors, this effect may be linked to the formation of a reactive metabolite in the mouse lung. The overall genotoxicity results indicate that mitotane is not mutagenic and not likely to be genotoxic.

Effects of mitotane on rats and dogs via oral administration have been investigated in studies with exposure periods varying from 4 days to 2 years. In a subchronic study in rats exposed orally to mitotane, Leydig cell tumours (LCTs) were reported in the testis of male rats after one year of exposure at a dose of 0.6 mg/kg-bw/day (Lacassagne 1971). These results were reported to be inconsistent with earlier studies, which may indicate involvement of a contaminant or strain variation in the response. No further details of this study were reported (HBPTO 2001). Also, there are several lines of evidence that suggest that human Leydig cells are quantitatively less sensitive than rats cells to chemically induced LCTs (Shenker et al. 1993; Quigley et al. 1995; Clegg et al. 1997).

The lowest oral lowest-observed-adverse-effect-level (LOAEL) was determined to be 4 mg/kg-bw per day on the basis of gross atrophy of the adrenal glands and degeneration of the cells of its inner cortex in dogs orally exposed to mitotane for 4 days (Cueto and Brown 1958). Long-term exposures to 50 mg/kg-bw per day of mitotane resulted in adrenocortical necrosis in dogs (Kirk and Jensen 1975; Lehman 1951). Damage to the zona fasciculata and zona reticularis was also observed in dogs exposed to mitotane for 10 days (138 mg/kg-bw per day) (Kirk et al. 1974). Decrease contractile force of the heart and plasma volume was observed in dogs exposed to 50 mg/kg-bw per day to mitotane for 14 days (Cueto 1970). In rats, atrophy of both the adrenal cortex and the thymolymphatic organs was observed following exposure to 121 mg/kg-bw per day of mitotane for 16 days (Hamid et al. 1974). Tissue damage of the adrenal glands (5 mg/kg-bw per day) and liver enlargement (20 mg/kg-bw per day) was also observed in rats fed mitotane for up to 2 years (Lehman 1952).

Dermal exposure to 200 mg/kg-bw per day to mitotane for 90 days caused severe effects (no further details provided) and was lethal to rabbits after 6 days of exposure to 400 mg/kg-bw per day (Lehman 1951).

Developmental toxicity of mitotane was investigated in rats administered mitotane in the diet during gestation. Slight, but significant delay (2 days) in vaginal

opening of pups was observed when Sprague-Dawley dams had received 28 mg/kg-bw per day of mitotane by gavage during gestation days 15 to 19. Pups derived from the previous experiment and exposed subcutaneously to 1 mg/kg-bw of mitotane on their second, third and fourth day of life showed persistent vaginal estrus and absence of corpora lutea during adult life (Gellert and Heinrichs 1975).

The results from acute toxicity studies indicated that the oral LD_{50} values in rats, mice and guinea pigs for mitotane were all greater than 4000 mg/kg-bw and that the dermal LD_{50} value in rabbits was greater than 1200 mg/kg-bw following a single exposure (Gaines 1969; Lehman 1951; RTECS 2009). No acute inhalation studies were identified.

The metabolism of mitotane has been studied in humans and a variety of other mammalian species. Absorption following ingestion of mitotane is evident in humans from both measurements of serum and adipose tissue concentrations of this chemical (ATSDR 2002). Forty percent of the administered dose of mitotane is absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract regardless of the dosage form (FDA) 2009). A portion of the absorbed fraction is expected to be transformed into a water-soluble metabolite in the liver, while another fraction is stocked in fat tissues (Moy 1961). Following a single oral dose of 30 mg/kg-bw in Göttingen minipigs, mitotane reached a median maximum concentration in 8 hours before rapidly declining due to elimination and distribution to body tissues, with adipose tissue being the primary storage site. A high fat/plasma ratio on day 30 reveals the high lipophilicity of this substance (Hermansson et al. 2008). Mitotane inhibits the mitochondrial conversion of cholesterol to pregnenolone and the conversion of 11-deoxycortisol to cortisol and produces selective adrenocortical necrosis in the adrenal tumour and metastases in humans (De León et al. 2002) (see use as therapeutic drug below). Competitive binding assays have showed that mitotane also binds to the human estrogen receptor (but with much weaker affinity than estradiol) (ATSDR 2002). Mitotane is metabolized by the adrenal mitochondria via cytochrome P450 to reactive products that covalently bind to the mitochondria macromolecules. The adrenal metabolism and covalent binding activities of animal species was shown to correlate with the known sensitivity of these species to the adrenocorticolytic effect of mitotane (ATSDR 2002). For example, mitochondria in dogs had significantly greater metabolism of mitotane and covalent binding activities compared with mitochondria from rats, rabbits or guinea pigs (Martz and Straw 1980).

In humans, mitotane has been used to treat adrenocortical carcinoma and Cushing's disease⁴ for at least four decades (Bergenstal et al. 1960; Wooten and

⁴ Hyperadrenocorticism, which is secondary to excessive pituitary secretion of the adrenocorticotropic hormone (Dorland's Medical Dictionary 2000).

King 1993). The drug is administered as 500 mg tablets in which mitotane is incorporated in solid form. An average dose of at least 8 to 10 grams per day is recommended by the distributor, but the dose can range from 2 to 16 grams per day (DPD 2010). The therapeutic action is based on the induction of selective necrosis of the zona fasciculata and the zona fascicularis of the adrenal cortex and inhibition of cortisol synthesis (Hart and Straw 1971; Hart et al. 1971; Hart et al. 1973). The most significant effects associated with mitotane treatment at doses as high as 12 000 mg per day for up to 34 months were fatigue, nausea, anorexia, vomiting and diarrhea in patients with Cushing's syndrome and adrenocortical carcinoma. The compound did not produce any observable effects to the liver, kidney or bone marrow, and adverse effects cleared when dosing was discontinued (Bergenstal et al. 1960; Hoffman and Mattox 1972; Luton et al. 1979; Perevodcikova et al. 1972; Wallace et al. 1961).

The confidence in the health effects database of mitotane is considered to be moderate, as limited empirical data were identified.

9.3 Characterization of risk to human health

No classifications or assessments of the health effects of mitotane by national or international regulatory agencies were identified. Available information indicates that mitotane is not likely to be genotoxic. On the basis of the empirical health effects data for mitotane, adrenal glands were identified as a target tissue.

The lowest effect level reported in the health effects database for mitotane was 0.6 mg/kg-bw per day and was based on the presence of Leydig cell tumours (LCTs) in the testis of male rats after one year of exposure. This report is inconsistent with other studies (because of possible contamination of mitotane and/or strain used), and there is uncertainty associated with interpretation of the relevance of effects given a lack of mode-of-action data. However, information in the literature suggests that human Leydig cells are quantitatively less sensitive than rat cells to chemically induced LCTs. Therefore, the lowest level at which adverse effects were observed was 4 mg/kg-bw per day, these effects were atrophy of the adrenal glands in dogs.

A comparison between the lowest level associated with an adverse effect in experimental animals exposed to repeated oral doses of mitotane (4 mg/kg-bw per day) and the upper-bounding estimate of general population exposure from environmental sources (0.022 μ g/kg-bw) results in a margin of exposure (MOE) of approximately 180 000. This margin is considered adequate to address uncertainties in the health effects and exposure databases.

In Canada, mitotane is used only as an oral chemotherapeutic agent in the treatment of cancer of the adrenal glands (DPD 2010). Direct exposure from use of mitotane as a therapeutic product is addressed under the *Food and Drug*

Regulations (Canada 1978), and exposure to the general public from products available to consumers is not expected.

9.4 Uncertainties in evaluation of risk to human health

This screening assessment does not include a full analysis of the mode of induction of effects of mitotane. Onlyinformation is available concerning the potential toxicity of mitotane following oral and dermal exposure, and no inhalation studies were identified. Thus, critical effect levels determined in this screening assessment are associated with uncertainty due to limitations in the toxicity database; there are uncertainties in the interpretation of the biological significance of effects, including uncertainties in the interpretation of intraspecies and interspecies variation. Some health effects data identified were tested with an unspecified isomer of mitotane that may represent the commercial product containing 90% of the isomer p,p'-DDD and only 5% to 8% o,p'-DDD (mitotane).

Due to limited empirical health effects data and use of modelling, confidence in the determination of critical health effects is moderate.

Uncertainty in exposure to mitotane from environmental media and food in Canada is moderate to high, as limited empirical data were available with which to derive exposure estimates. Consumer products are not expected to be a source of exposure to mitotane. The only reported use of mitotane is as an oral chemotherapeutic agent. Therefore, the general population is not expected to be exposed to mitotane via consumer products.

10. Conclusion

Considering all available lines of evidence presented in this screening assessment, there is risk of harm to organisms, but not to the broader integrity of the environment from mitotane. It is concluded that mitotane meets the criteria under paragraph 64(a) of CEPA as it is entering or may enter the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that have or may have an immediate or long-term harmful effect on the environment or its biological diversity. However, it is concluded that mitotane does not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(b) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger to the environment on which life depends.

On the basis of the information presented in this screening assessment, it is concluded that mitotane does not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(c) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger in Canada to human life or health.

It is concluded that mitotane meets one or more of the criteria set out in section 64 of CEPA.

Additionally, mitotane has been determined to meet the persistence and bioaccumulation criteria as set out in the *Persistence and Bioaccumulation Regulations* of CEPA.

References

[ASHP] American Society of Health-System Pharmacists. 2010. AHFS drug information for mitotane. http://www.ahfsdruginformation.com/

[ASHP] American Society of Health-System Pharmacists. 2010. Mitotane AHSF Drug Monograph. http://www.ahfsdruginformation.com/.

[AIES] Artificial Intelligence Expert System. 2003–2005. Ver. 1.25. Ottawa (ON): Environment Canada. Model developed by Stephen Niculescu. Environment Canada, Ecological Assessment Division, New Chemicals Evaluation Section.

Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation. 2010. Fish monitoring program: analysis of organic contaminants. http://www.dec.state.ak.us/eh/news.htm#fmp.

[AOPWIN] Atmospheric Oxidation Program for Microsoft Windows [estimation model]. 2008. Ver. 1.92a. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/epi-suitetmestimation-program-interface.

Arnot JA, Gobas FAPC. 2003. A generic QSAR for assessing the bioaccumulation potential of organic chemicals in aquatic food webs. QSAR Comb Sci. 22(3):337-345.

Arnot JA, Mackay D, Bonnell M. 2008a. Estimating metabolic biotransformation rates in fish from laboratory data. Environ Toxicol Chem. 27(2):341-351.

Arnot JA, Mackay D, Parkerton TF, Bonnell M. 2008b. A database of fish biotransformation rates for organic chemicals. Environ Toxicol Chem. 27(11):2263-2270.

Arnot JA, Meylan W, Tunkel J, Howard PH, Mackay D, Bonnell M, Boethling RS. 2009. A quantitative structure-activity relationship for predicting metabolic biotransformation rates for organic chemicals in fish. Environ Toxicol Chem. 28(6):1168-1177.

[ASTER] ASsessment Tools for the Evaluation of Risk. 1999. Duluth (MN): US Environmental Protection Agency, Mid-Continent Ecology Division. http://cfpub.epa.gov/si/si_public_record_Report.cfm?dirEntryID=74887. [restricted access].

ASTreat Model [sewage treatment plant removal model]. 2006. Ver. 1.0. Cincinnati (OH): Procter & Gamble Company.

[ATSDR] Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. 2002. Draft toxicological profile for DDT, DDE, DDD. US Department of Health and Human Services. http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/substances/toxsubstance.asp?toxid=20.

Attivi D, Ajana I, Astier A, Demore B, Gibaud S. 2010. Development of microemulsion of mitotane for improvement of oral bioavailability. Drug Dev Ind Pharm. 36(4):421-427.

Baudin E, Pellegriti G, Bonnay M, Penfornis A, Laplanche A, Vassal G, Schlumberger M. 2001. Impact of monitoring plasma 1,1-dichlorodiphenildichloroethane (*o,p'*-DDD) levels on the treatment of patients with adrenocortical carcinoma. Cancer. 92(6):1385-1392.

[BCFBAF] Bioaccumulation Program for Microsoft Windows [estimation model]. 2008. Ver. 3.00. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/epi-suitetm-estimation-program-interface.

Becker S, Halsall CJ, Tych1 W, Kallenborn R, Schlabach M, Manø S. 2009. Changing sources and environmental factors reduce the rates of decline of organochlorine pesticides in the Arctic Atmosphere. Atmos Chem Phys Discuss. 9:515-540. www.atmos-chem-phys-discuss.net/9/515/2009/.

Benguira S, Leblond VS, Weber JP, Hontela A. 2002. Loss of capacity to elevate plasma cortisol in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) treated with a single injection of *o,p'*-dichlorodiphenyldichloroethane. Environ Toxicol Chem. 21(8):1753-1756.

Bensley B, Kohnstam G. 1957. Nucleophilic substitution reactions of benzyl halides. Part 1. The reaction of benzyl chloride with partly aqueous solvents. J Chem Soc. 4747-4754 [cited in Wolfe et al. 1977].

Bentabol A, Jodral M. 1995. Occurrence of organochlorine agrochemical residues in Spanish cheeses. Pestic Sci. 44:177-182.

Berg V, Ugland KI, Hareide NR, Aspholm PE, Polder A, Skaared JU. 1997. Organochlorine contamination in deep-sea fish from the Davis Strait. Mar Environ Res. 44(2):135-148.

Bergenstal D, Hertz R, Lipsett M, Moy R. 1960. Chemotherapy of adrenocortical cancer with *o,p'*-DDD. Ann Intern Med 53(4):672-682. [cited in ATSDR 2002 and EHC 1979].

Beyer A, Mackay D, Matthies M, Wania F, Webster E. 2000. Assessing long-range transport potential of persistent organic pollutants. Environ Sci Technol. 34(4):699-703.

Bidleman TF, Leone AD. 2004. Soil—air exchange of organochlorine pesticides in the Southern United States. Environ Pollut. 128:49-57.

Bidleman TF, Leone AD, Wong F, van Vliet L, Szeto S, Ripley BD. 2006. Emission of legacy chlorinated pesticides from agricultural and orchard soils in British Columbia, Canada. Environ Toxicol Chem. 25:1488-1457.

Biggar JW, Riggs RL. 1974. Apparent solubility of organochlorine insecticides in water at various temperatures. Hilgardia 42(10):383-391.

[BIOWIN] Biodegradation Probability Program for Microsoft Windows [estimation model] 2008. Ver. 4.10. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/epi-suitetm-estimation-program-interface.

Boethling RS, Howard PH, Beauman JA, Larosche ME. 1995. Factors for intermedia extrapolations in biodegradability assessment. Chemosphere. 30(4):741-752.

Bonner JC, Wells MR. 1987. Comparative acute toxicity of DDT metabolites among American and European species of planarians. Comp Biochem Physiol C 87:43.

Brandt I, Jönsson CJ, Lund BO. 1992. Comparative studies on adrenocorticolytic DDT-metabolites. Ambio. 21(8):602-605.

Bristol-Myers Squibb Company. 2010. Lysodren® (mitotane tablets, USP) Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS). http://packageinserts.bms.com/pi/pi_lysodren.pdf.

Brunton L, Lazo J, Parker K, editors. 2005. Goodman & Gilman's The pharmacological basis of therapeutics, 11th ed. The McGraw-Hill Companies.

Bulger WH, Kupfer D. 1978. Studies on the induction of rat uterine ornithine decarboxylase by DDT Analogs. I. Comparison with estradiol-17 β activity. Pest Biochem Physiol. 8:253-262.

Buselmaier W, Röhrborn G, Propping P. 1972. Mutagenicity investigations with pesticides in the host-mediated assay and the dominant lethal test in mice. Biol Zbl 91:310-325 [in German] [cited in IARC 1991].

Canada. [1978]. Food and Drug Regulations, C.R.C., c. 870. http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/regulations/c.r.c.,_c._870/index.html.

Canada. 1985. *Food and Drugs Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. F-27. http://www.canlii.org/ca/sta/f-27/whole.html.

Canada. 1999. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999. S.C. 1999, c. 33. Canada Gazette, Part III, vol. 22, no. 3. http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/C-15.31/.

Canada. 2000. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999: Persistence and Bioaccumulation Regulations, P.C. 2000-348, 29 March, 2000, SOR/2000-107. http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/regulations/SOR-2000-107/page-1.html.

Canada. 2002. *Pest Control Products Act.* S.C. 2002, c. 28. Canada Gazette, Part III, vol. 25, no. 3. http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/P-9.01/.

Canada, Dept. of the Environment, Dept. of Health. 2006. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999: Notice of intent to develop and implement measures to assess and manage the risks posed by certain substances to the health of Canadians and their environment. Canada Gazette, Part I, vol. 140, no. 49, p. 4109-4117. http://publications.gc.ca/gazette/archives/p1/2006/2006-12-09/pdf/q1-14049.pdf.

Canada, Dept. of the Environment, Dept. of Health. 2009a Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999: Notice of twelfth release of technical information relevant to substances identified in the Challenge. Canada Gazette, Part I, vol. 143, no. 52, p. 3839-3847. http://publications.gc.ca/gazette/archives/p1/2009/2009-12-26/pdf/g1-14352.pdf.

Canada, Dept. of the Environment, Dept. of Health. 2009b. *Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999: Notice with respect to Batch 12 Challenge substances*. Canada Gazette, Part I, vol. 143, no. 52, p. 3813-3836. http://publications.gc.ca/gazette/archives/p1/2009/2009-12-26/pdf/g1-14352.pdf.

Canadian Cancer Society. 2010. Adrenal gland cancer fact sheet. http://www.cancer.ca.

Cantillana T, Lindström V, Eriksson I, Brandt I, Bergman Å. 2009. Interindividual differences in *o,p'*-DDD enantiomer kinetics examined in Göttingen minipigs. Chemosphere. 76:167-172.

[CATABOL] Probabilistic assessment of biodegradability and metabolic pathways [computer model] c2004–2008. Ver. 5.10.2. Bourgas (BG): Bourgas Prof. Assen Zlatarov University, Laboratory of Mathematical Chemistry. http://oasis-lmc.org/?section=software&swid=1.

[CCME] Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment. 1999. DDT (total) (1999). In: Canadian environmental soil quality guidelines for the protection of environmental and human health. Winnipeg (MN): CCME. [Fact sheet]. http://ceqg-rcqe.ccme.ca/download/en/265/.

Chung MK, Hu R, Wong MH, Cheung KC. 2007. Comparative toxicity of hydrophobic contaminants to microalgae and higher plants. Ecotoxicology. 16:393-402.

Clegg ED, Cook JC, Chapin RE, Foster PMD, Daston GP. 1997. Leydig cell hyperplasia and adenoma formation: mechanisms and relevance to humans. Reprod Toxicol. 11:107-121.

[CPOPs] Canadian POPs Model 2008. Gatineau (QC): Environment Canada, Ecological Assessment Division; Bourgas (BG): Bourgas Prof. Assen Zlatarov University, Laboratory of Mathematical Chemistry. [Model developed based on Mekenyan et al. 2005]. Available from: Environment Canada, Ecological Assessment Division.

Cristol SJ, Hause NL, Quant AJ, Miller HW, Eilar KR, Meek JS. 1952. Mechanisms of elimination reactions. VI. The kinetics of dehydrochlorination of various 2,2-diarylchloroethanes. J Am Chem Soc. 74(13):3333-3337 [cited in Wolfe et al. 1977].

Crowe AS, Smith JE. 2007. Distribution and persistence of DDT in soil at a sand dune-marsh environment: Point Pelee, Ontario, Canada. Can J Soil Sci. 87:315-327.

Cueto C, Brown J. 1958. Biological studies on an adrenocorticolytic agent and the isolation of the active components. Endocrinology. 62:334-339 [cited in HBPTO 2001].

Cueto C. 1970. Cardiovascular effects of *o,p'*-DDD. Ind Med. 39:55-56 [cited in ATSDR 2002].

De Bruijn J, Busser F, Seinen W, Hermens J. 1989. Determination of octanol/water partition coefficients for hydrophobic organic chemicals with the "slow-stirring" method. Environ Toxicol Chem. 8:499-512.

De León DD, Lange BJ, Walterhouse D, Moshang T. 2002. Clinical case seminar: Long-term (15 years) outcome in an infant with metastatic adrenocortical carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 87(10):4452-4456.

Deonier CC, Jones HA. 1946. TDE, 1,1-Dichloro-2,2-bis(p-chlorophenyl) ethane, as a anopheline larvicide. Science. 103(2662):13-14.

Deonier CC, Jones HA, Haller HL, Hinchey E, Incho HH. 1946. Mosquito larvicide tests: A resume of tests of compounds related to DDT against larvae of Anopheles Quadrimaculatus. Soap and sanitary chemicals-Laboratory tests. J Econ Entomol. 39 (459):118-119.

Dimitrov S, Dimitrova N, Parkerton T, Comber M, Bonnell M, Mekenyan O. 2005. Base-line model for identifying the bioaccumulation potential of chemicals. SAR QSAR Environ Res. 16(6):531-554. Included in the CPOPs 2008 model suite.

Donahoe RM, Curtis LR. 1996. Estrogenic activity of chlordecone, *o,p'*-DDT and *o,p'*-DDE in juvenile rainbow trout: induction of vitellogenesis and interaction with hepatic estrogen binding sites. Aquat Toxicol. 36: 31-52.

[DPD] Drug Product Database [database]. 2010. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. http://webprod.hc-sc.gc.ca/dpd-bdpp/index-eng.jsp.

[ECCC, HC] Environment and Climate Change Canada, Health Canada. [modified 2007 Apr 20]. Categorization. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada. http://www.chemicalsubstanceschimiques.gc.ca/approach-approach-approche/categor-eng.php

[ECOSAR] ECOlogical Structure Activity Relationships Class Program [estimation model]. 2008. Ver. 1.00. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/episuitetm-estimation-program-interface.

[EHC] Environmental Health Criteria 9. 1979. DDT and its derivatives. Geneva (CH): World Health Organization.

Environment Canada. 1988. Data relating to the *Domestic Substances List* (DSL) 1984-1986, collected under CEPA, 1988, s. 25(1). Based on Reporting for the *Domestic Substances List* [guide] 1988. Data prepared by: Environment Canada.

Environment Canada. 2005. Data collected under the *Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999*, section 71: *Notice with respect to selected substances identified as priority for action.* Canada Gazette, Part 1, vol. 140, No.9. Data prepared by: Environment Canada.

Environment Canada. 2006. Canada's national implementation plan under the Stockholm Convention on persistent organic pollutants. May 2006. Ottawa (ON): Environment Canada.

http://chm.pops.int/Countries/National%20Implementation/tabid/253/language/en-US/Default.aspxhttp://chm.pops.int/Countries/National%20Implementation/tabid/253/language/en-US/Default.aspx.

Environment Canada. 2007. Guidance for Conducting Ecological Assessments under CEPA 1999, Science Resource Technical Series, Technical Guidance Module: QSARs. Reviewed Draft Working Document. Gatineau (QC): Environment Canada, Ecological Assessment Division.

Environment Canada. 2009a. Presence and levels of priority pesticides in selected Canadian aquatic ecosystems (2009). http://www.ec.gc.ca/eaudouce-freshwater/default.asp?lang=En&n=EAF4C987-1&offset=8&toc=show.

Environment Canada. 2009b. Guidance for Conducting Ecological Assessments under CEPA, 1999, Science Resource Technical Series, Technical Guidance Module: Mega Flush Consumer Release Scenario. Working Document. Gatineau (QC): Environment Canada, Ecological Assessment Division.

Environment Canada. 2010. Atlantic Envirodat water quality database. http://map.ns.ec.gc.ca/envirodat/root/main/en/extraction_page_e.asp.

Environment Canada. 2013. Mega Flush report: CAS RN 53-19-0, 2013-05-29. Ver. 3.1.4. Unpublished report. Gatineau (QC): Environment Canada, Ecological Assessment Division.

[EPI Suite] Estimation Program Interface Suite for Microsoft Windows [estimation model]. 2008. Ver. 4.00. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/epi-suitetm-estimation-program-interface.

[EQC] Equilibrium Criterion Model. 2003. Ver. 2.02. Peterborough (ON): Trent University, Canadian Centre for Environmental Modelling and Chemistry. http://www.trentu.ca/academic/aminss/envmodel/models/EQC2.html.

Fenner K, Scheringer M, MacLeod M, Matthies M, McKone TE, Stroebe M, Beyer A, Bonnell M, Le Gall A, Klasmeier J, et al. 2005. Comparing estimates of persistence and long-range transport potential among multimedia models. Environ Sci Technol. 39:1932-1942.

Fisk AT, Norstrom RJ, Cymbalisty CD, Muir DCG. 1998. Dietary accumulation and depuration of hydrophobic organochlorines: bioaccumulation parameters and their relationship with the octanol/water partition coefficient. Environ Toxicol Chem. 17:951-961 [cited in Konwick et al. 2006].

Frear DEH, Boyd JE. 1967. Use of *Daphnia magna* for the microbioassay of pesticides. I. Development of standardized techniques for rearing Daphnia and preparation of dosage-mortality curves for pesticides. J Econ Entomol. 60(5):1228-1236.

Gaines TB. 1969. Acute toxicity of pesticides. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 14:515-534 [cited in EHC 1979].

Galloway SM, Armstrong MJ, Reuben C, Colman S, Brown B, Cannon C, Bloom AD, Nakamura F, Ahmed M, Duk S, et al. 1987. Chromosome aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in Chinese hamster ovary cells: evaluations of 108 chemicals. Environ Mol Mutagen. 10 (Suppl. 10):1-175.

Garrison AW, Nzengung VA, Avants JK, Ellington JJ, Jones WJ, Rennels D, Wolfe, NL. 2000. Phytodegradation of *p,p'*-DDT and the enantiomers of *o,p'*-DDT. Environ Sci Technol. 34:1663-1670.

[GdCh] German Chemical Society (Advisory committee on existing chemicals (BUA). 1998. DDT and its Derivatives. BUA report 216. S. Hirzel Wissenchaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft Stuttgart.

Gellert R, Heinrichs W. 1975. Effects of DDT homologs administered to female rats during the perinatal period. Biol Neonate. 26:283-290.

Giesy JP, Verbrugge DA, Othout RA, Bowerman WW, Mora MA, Jones PD, Newsted JL, Vandervoort C, Heaton SN, Aulerich RJ, et al. 1994. Contaminants in fishes from Great Lakes-influenced sections and above dams of three Michigan Rivers. I: Concentrations of organo chlorine insecticides, polychlorinated biphenyls, dioxin equivalents, and mercury. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. 27:202-212.

Gilliom RJ, Barbash JE, Crawford CG, Hamilton PA, Martin JD, Nakagaki N, Nowell LH, Scott JC, Stackelberg PE, Thelin GP, Wolock DM. 2006. Pesticides in the nation's streams and ground water, 1992–2001. The quality of our nation's waters. Washington (DC): United States Geological Survey.

Gossett RW, Brown DA, Young DR. 1983. Predicting the bioaccumulation of organic compounds in marine organisms using octanol/water partition coefficients. Mar Pollut Bull. 14(10):387-392.

Hamid J, Sayeed A, McFarlane H. 1974. The effect of 1-(o-chlorophenyl)-1-(p-chlorophenyl)-2,2-dichloroethane (*o,p'*-DDD) on the immune response in malnutrition. Br J Exp Pathol. 55:94.

Hansck C, Leo A. 1979. Substituent constants for correlation analysis in chemistry and biology. New York (NY): Wiley Interscience [cited in Gossett et al. 1983].

Hart M, Straw JA. 1971. Studies on the site of action of *o,p'*-DDD in the dog adrenal cortex. 1. Inhibition of ACTH-mediated pregnenolone synthesis. Steroids. 17(5):559-574.

Hart M, Adamson R, Fabro S. 1971. Prematurity and intrauterine growth retardation induced by DDT in the rabbit. Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther. 192:286-290 [cited in ATSDR 2002].

Hart MM, Regan RL, Adamson RH. 1973. The effect of isomers of DDD on the ACTH-induced steroid output, histology, and ultrastructure of the dog adrenal cortex. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 24:101-113.

[HBPTO] Handbook of Pesticide Toxicology Agents. 2001. Edited by Robert Krieger. Second Edition. Academic Press 2:1332-1334.

Health Canada. 1998. Exposure factors for assessing total daily intake of priority substances by the general population of Canada. Unpublished report. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada, Environmental Health Directorate.

Health Canada. [modified 2013 Jun 27]. Lists of permitted food additives. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/securit/addit/list/index-eng.phphttp://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/securit/addit/list/index-eng.php

Hebert CE, Weseloh DV, Kot L, Glooschenko V. 1994. Organochlorine contaminants in a terrestrial food web on the Niagara Peninsula, Ontario, Canada 1987-89. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. 26:356-366.

[HENRYWIN] Henry's Law Constant Program for Microsoft Windows [estimation model]. 2008. Ver. 3.20. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/epi-suitetm-estimation-program-interface.

Hermansson V, Cantillana T, Hovander L, Bergman A, Ljungvall K, Magnusson U, Törneke K, Brandt I. 2008. Pharmacokinetics of the adrenocorticolytic compounds 3-methylsulphonyl-DDE and *o,p'*-DDD (mitotane) in Minipigs. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 61:267-274.

Hoffman DL, Mattox VR. 1972. Treatment of adrenocortical carcinoma with *o,p'*-DDD. Med Clin North Am. 56:999-1012 [cited in EHC 1979].

Hoke RA, Ankley GT, Cotter AM, Goldenstein T, Kosian PA, Phipps GL, VanderMeiden FM. 1994. Evaluation of equilibrium partitioning theory for predicting acute toxicity of field-collected sediments contaminated with DDT, DDE and DDD to the amphipod *Hyalella azteca*. Environ Toxicol Chem. 13:157-166.

[HSDB] Hazardous Substances Data Bank [database]. 2010. Mitotane. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US). [accessed 2010 Jul 16]. http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/htmlgen?HSDB_.

Hu TM, Layton WL. 2001. Allometric scaling of xenobiotic clearance: uncertainty versus universality. AAPS PharmSci. 3(4):E29.

Huang HJ, Liu SM, Kuo CE. 2001. Anaerobic biodegradation of DDT residues (DDT, DDD, AND DDE) in estuarine sediment. J Environ Sci Health, Part B, 36(3):273-288.

Hung H, Kallenborn R, Breivik K, Su Y, Brorstrøm-Lunden E, Olafsdottir K, Thorlacius JM, Leppanen S, Bossi R, Skov H, et al. 2010. Atmospheric monitoring of organic pollutants in the Arctic under the Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP): 1993-2006. Sci Total Environ. 408:2854-2873.

Hutter AM, Kayhoe DE. 1966. Adrenal cortical carcinoma: Results of treatment with *o,p'*-DDD in 138 patients. Am J Med. 41(4):581-592.

[HYDROWIN] Hydrolysis Rates Program for Microsoft Windows [estimation model]. 2008. Ver. 2.00. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/epi-suitetm-estimation-program-interface.

[IARC] International Agency for Research on Cancer. 1991. DDT and associated compounds. International Programme on Chemical Safety.

Ilan Z, Yaron Z. 1980. Suppression by organochlorines of the response to adrenocorticotrophin of the interregnal tissue in *Sarotherodon aureus* (teleostei). J Endocrinol. 87:185-193.

[IMS] IMS AG. 2013. Multinational Integrated Data Analysis (MIDAS) [database]. Cham (CH): IMS AG.

Ingersoll CG, Wang N, Hayward JMR, Jones JR, Jones SB, Ireland DS. 2005. A field assessment of long-term laboratory sediment toxicity tests with the amphipod *Hyalella azteca*. Environ Toxicol Chem. 24 (11):2853-2870.

[IPCS] International Programme on Chemical Safety. 1989. Environmental Health Criteria 83: DDT and its derivatives - Environmental aspects. Geneva (CH): United Nations Environment Programme, the International Labour Organization and the World Health Organization. http://www.inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc/ehc83.htm.

Jönsson CJ, Lund BO, Brandt I. 1993. Adrenocorticolytic DDT-metabolites: studies in mink, *Mustela vison* and otter, *Lutra lutra*. Ecotoxicology. 2:41-53.

Jönsson CJ, Lund BO, Brunström B, Brandt I. 1994. Toxicity and irreversible binding of two DDT metabolites 3-methylsulfonyl-DDE and *o,p'*-DDD in adrenal interrenal cells in birds. Environ Toxicol Chem. 13(8):1303-1310.

Jorgensen EH, Balm PHM, Christiansen JS, Plotitsyna N, Ingebrigtsen K. 2001. Influence of *o,p'*-DDD on the physiological response to stress in Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*). Aquat Toxicol. 54:179-193.

Karickhoff SW, McDaniel VK, Melton C, Vellino AN, Nute DE, Carreira LA. 1991. Predicting chemical reactivity by computer. Environ Toxicol Chem. 10:1405-1416 [cited in Meador et al. 1997].

Kirk G, Boyer S, Hutcheson D. 1974. Effects of *o,p'*-DDD on plasma cortisol levels and histology of the adrenal gland in the normal dog. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc. 10:179-182.

Kirk G, Jensen H. 1975. Toxic effects of *o,p'*-DDD in the normal dog. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc. 11:765-768.

Klasmeier J, Matthies M, MacLeod M, Fenner K, Scheringer M, Stroebe M, Le Gall AC, McKone TE, van de Meent D, Wania F. 2006. Application of multimedia models for screening assessment of long-range transport potential and overall persistence. Environ Sci Technol. 40:53-60.

[KOCWIN] The Soil Adsorption Coefficient Program [estimation model] 2008. Ver. 2.00. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. www.epa.gov/oppt/exposure/pubs/episuite.htm.

Kollig HP. 1988. Criteria for evaluating the reliability of literature data on environmental process constants. Toxicol Environ Chem. 17:287-311.

Konwick BJ, Garrison AW, Black MC, Avants JK, Fisk AT. 2006. Bioaccumulation, biotransformation and metabolite formation of fipronil and chiral legacy pesticides in rainbow trout. Environ Sci Technol. 40(9):2930-2936.

[KOWWIN] Octanol-Water Partition Coefficient Program for Microsoft Windows [estimation model] 2008. Ver. 1.67. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/episuitetm-estimation-program-interface.

Krieger R, editor. 2001. Handbook of Pesticide Toxicology: Agents. 2nd ed. Academic Press 2:1332-1334.

Kumar Y. 2001. Pesticides in ambient air in Alberta. Edmonton (AB): Alberta Environment.

Kurt-Karakus PB, Bidleman TF, Staebler RM, Jones KC. 2006. Measurement of DDT fluxes from a historically treated agricultural soil in Canada. Environ Sci Technol. 40(15):4578-4585.

Lacassagne A. 1971. [Critical review of experimental tumours of Leydig cells, more particularly in the rat.] Bull Cancer. 58:236-276 [in French] [cited in Krieger 2001].

Lacroix M, Hontela A. 2003. The organochlorine *o,p'*-DDD disrupts the adrenal steroidogenic signaling pathway in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 90:197-205.

Laliberté D. 2003. Évolution des teneurs en mercure et en BPC de quatre espèces de poissons du Saint-Laurent, 1976-1997. Gouvernement du Québec, Ministère de l'Environnement, Direction du suivi de l'état de l'environnement. Bibliothèque nationale du Québec, Envirodog : ENV/2003/0287.

Langenbach R, Gingell R. 1975. Cytotoxic and oncogenic activities of 1,1,1-trichloro-2,2-bis(p-chlorophenyl)-ethane and metabolites to mouse embryo cells in culture. J Natl Cancer Inst. 54:981-983.

Lazaro R, Herrera A, Arino A, Conchello MP, Bayarri S. 1996. Organochlorine pesticide residues in total diet samples from Aragon (Northeastern Spain). J Agric Food Chem. 44:2742-2747.

Leblond VS, Hontela A. 1999. Effects of in vitro exposures to cadmium, mercury, zinc, and 1-(2-Chlorophenyl)-1-(4-chlorophenyl)-2,2-dichloroethane on steroidogenesis by dispersed interregnal cells of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 157:16-22.

Lehman AJ. 1951. Chemicals in foods: A report to the Association of Food and Drug officials on current developments. Part II. Pesticides. Section I: Introduction. Q. Bull Assoc Food Drug Off. 15(1):122-125 [cited in Krieger 2001].

Lehman AJ. 1952. Chemicals in foods: A report to the Association of Food and Drug officials on current developments. Part II. Pesticides. Section II: Dermal toxicity. Section III. Subacute and chronic toxicity. Section IV. Biochemistry. Section V. Pathology. Q. Bull Assoc Food Drug Off. 16(II), 3-9; (III), 47-53; (IV), 85-91; (V), 126-132 [cited in Krieger 2001].

[LNHPD] Licensed Natural Health Products Database [database]. 2010. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. [accessed 2010 Sep]. http://webprod.hc-sc.gc.ca/lnhpd-bdpsnh/start-debuter.do?language-langage=english.

Lotufo GR, Landrum PF, Gedeon ML, Tigue EA, Herche LR. 2000. Comparative toxicity and toxicokinetics of DDT and its major metabolites in freshwater amphipods. Environ Toxicol Chem. 19(2):368-379.

Lund BO. 1994. *In vitro* adrenal bioactivation and effects on steroid metabolism of DDT, PCBs and their metabolites in the gray seal (*Halichoerus grypus*). Environ Toxicol Chem. 13(6):913-917.

Lund BO, Busk L, Brandt I, Hellman B. 1990. Effect of *o,p'*-DDD on the in vivo incorporation of 3H-thymidine into DNA: evidence for induced cell proliferation in the mouse lung. Pharmacol Toxicol. 66(3):179-184.

Luton JP, Valcke JC, Remy JM, Mathieu de Fossey B, Bricaire H. 1972. Gynecomastia after long-term treatment of Cushing's diseases with *o,p'*-DDT. Ann Endocrinol. 33:290-293 [cited in EHC 1979].

Martz F, Straw JA. 1980. Metabolism and covalent binding of 1-(*o*-chlorophenyl)-1-(*p*chlorophenyl)-2,2-dichloroethane (*o*,*p*'-DDD): Correlation between adrenocorticolytic activity and metabolic activation by adrenocortical mitochondria. Drug Metab Dispos. 8(3):127-130.

Maslansky EJ, Williams GM. 1981. Evidence for an epigenetic mode of action in organochlorine pesticide hepatocarcinogenicity: a lack of genotoxicity in rat, mouse and hamster hepatocytes. J Toxicol Environ Health. 8:121-130.

Mayer FL, Ellersieck MR. 1986. Manual of acute toxicity: interpretation and data base for 410 chemicals and 66 species of freshwater organisms. Resource Publication 160. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington (DC).

McLaughlin A, Belknap A. 2008. Annual kg quantity of medicinal ingredients distributed and dispensed in Canada: analysis of intercontinental medical statistics (IMS) data for 2007. Environmental Impact Initiative, HPFB, Health Canada. [Excel format data summary].

Meador JP, Adams NG, Casillas E, Bolton JL. 1997. Comparative bioaccumulation of chlorinated hydrocarbons from sediment by two infaunal invertebrates. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. 33:388-400.

Meijer SN, Shoeib M, Jantunen LMM, Jones KC, Harner, T. 2003 Air-soil exchange of organochlorine pesticides in agricultural soils: 1. Field measurements using a novel in situ sampling device. Environ Sci Technol. 37:1292-1299 [cited in Kurt-Karakus et al. 2006].

Mekenyan G, Dimitrov SD, Pavlov TS, Veith GD. 2005. POPs: A QSAR system for creating PBT profiles of chemicals and their metabolites. SAR QSAR Environ Res. 16(1-2):103-133.

Mortelmans K, Haworth S, Lawlor T, Speck W, Tainer B, Zeiger E. 1986. Salmonella mutagenicity tests: II. Results from the testing of 270 chemicals. Environ Mutagen. 8 (Suppl. 7):1-119.

Moy RH. 1961. Studies of the pharmacology of *o,p'*-DDD in man. J Lab Clin Med. 58(2):296-304.

[MPBPWIN] Melting Point Boiling Point Program for Microsoft Windows [estimation model]. 2008. Ver. 1.43. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/episuitetm-estimation-program-interface.

O'Neil MJ, editor. 2006. The Merck Index: An Encyclopedia of Chemicals, Drugs, and Biologicals. 14th ed. Merck Research Laboratories.

NatChem Database and Analysis System 2002. Toronto (Ontario): Environment Canada. [updated 2004 Jul; accessed 1992-2003]. http://www.msc.ec.gc.ca/natchem/toxics/index_e.html.

Natural Resources Canada. 2010. The atlas of Canada – wind erosion risk and climate sensitivity. Ottawa (ON): Natural Resources Canada. http://atlas.nrcan.gc.ca/site/english/maps/climatechange/potentialimpacts/winder osionclimatesensitivity.

[NCI] National Chemical Inventories [database]. 2009. Issue 1. Columbus (OH): American Chemical Society. http://www.cas.org/products/cd/nci/index.html.

[NHPID] Natural Health Products Ingredients Database [database]. 2010. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. [accessed 2010 Sep]. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/dhp-mps/prodnatur/applications/online-enligne/nhpid-bipsn-eng.php.

Nichols JW, Fitzsimmons PN, Burkhard LP. 2007. In vitro-in vivo extrapolation of quantitative hepatic biotransformation data for fish. II. Modeled effects on chemical bioaccumulation. Environ Toxicol Chem. 26:1304-1319.

Norstrom RJ, Muir DCG, Ford CA, Simon M, Macdonald CR, Beland P. 1992. Indications of P450 monooxygenase activities in beluga (*Delphinapterus leucas*) and narwhal (*Monodon monoceros*) from patterns of PCB, PCDD and PCDF accumulation. Marine Environ Res. 34:267-272.

[NPRI] National Pollutant Release Inventory [database]. 2006. Gatineau (QC): Environment Canada. [accessed 2010 Aug 22]. http://www.ec.gc.ca/pdb/querysite/query_e.cfm. Oliver BG, Niimi AJ. 1988. Trophodynamic analysis of polychlorinated biphenyl congeners and other chlorinated hydrocarbons in the Lake Ontario ecosystem. Environ Sci Technol. 22(4):388-397.

Palmer K, Green S, Legator M. 1972. Cytogenetic effects of DDT and derivatives of DDT in a cultured mammalian cell line. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 22:355-364.

Perevodcikova NI, Platinskiy LV, Kerstman VI. 1972. [The treatment of inoperable forms of malignant tumors of the adrenal cortex with *o,p'*-DDD.] Vopr Onkol. 18:24-29 [in Russian] [cited in EHC 1979].

Pham T, Lum K, Lemieux C. 1993. The occurrence, distribution and sources of DDT in the St. Lawrence River, Quebec (Canada). Chemosphere. 26(9):1595-1606.

Pham T, Lum K, Lemieux C. 1996. Seasonal variation of DDT and its metabolites in the St. Lawrence River (Canada) and four of its tributaries. Sci Total Environ. 179:17-26.

Phipps GL, Mattson VR, Ankley GT. 1995. Relative sensitivity of three freshwater benthic macroinvertebrates to ten contaminants. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. 28:281-286.

[PhysProp] Interactive PhysProp Database [database]. 2006. Syracuse (NY): Syr, Inc. [accessed 2010 Aug 16]. http://www.syrres.com/esc/physdemo.htm.

[PMRA] Pest Management Regulatory Agency. 2007. Memorandum to Pesticide Registrants. Post-categorization of substances on the *Domestic Substances List*. Impacts of the Challenge for Pesticide Registrants. Attachment 1: Actives, Formulants and Formulant Impurities on the Challenge List Resulting from Categorization of the DSL. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada, Pest Management Regulatory Agency [accessed 2010 Aug 30].

[PMRA] Pest Management Regulatory Agency. 2010. Reevaluation note: Discontinuation of agricultural and non-agricultural pest control products under re-evaluation and proposed changes to maximum residue limits: Update 6 (September 27, 2010). Ottawa (ON): Health Canada, Pest Management Regulatory Agency. [accessed 2010 Oct 27]. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/cps-spc/alt_formats/pdf/pubs/pest/decisions/rev2010-14/rev2010-14-eng.pdf.

Qiu X, Zhu T, Yao B, Hu J, Hu S. 2005. Contribution of dicofol to the current DDT pollution in China. Environ Sci Technol. 39:4385-4390.

Quigley CA, De Bellis A, Marschke KB, El-Awady MK, Wilson EM, French FS. 1995. Androgen receptor defects: historical, clinical, and molecular perspectives. Endocr Rev. 16:19-34.

Roepke TA, Snyder MJ, Cherr GN. 2005. Estradiol and endocrine disrupting compounds adversely affect development of sea urchin embryos at environmentally relevant concentrations. Aquat Toxicol. 71:155-173.

[RTECS] Registry of Toxic Effects of Chemical Substances. 2009. Record for ethane, 1,1-dichloro-2,2-bis(p-chlorophenyl)- (72-54-8). [updated 2009 Nov; accessed 2010 Sep]. Hamilton (ON): Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health.

Sangster J. 1994. LOGKOW Databank. A databank of evaluated octanol-water partition coefficients (log P) on microcomputer diskette. Montreal (QC): Sangster Research Laboratories [cited in EPI Suite (2008), Phys-Prop References].

Scheringer M, MacLeod M, Wegmann F. 2006. OECD P_{OV} and LRTP Screening Tool. Ver. 2.0. Paris (FR): OECD; Zurich (CH): Swiss Federal Institute of Technology. Distributed at OECD/UNEP Workshop on Application of Multimedia Models for Identification of Persistent Organic Pollutants, Ottawa, Canada, May 31 – June 2, 2006. [accessed 2010 Sep 10]. www.sust-chem.ethz.ch/downloads/Tool2_0_Manual.pdf

Schteingart DE. 2007. Adjuvant mitotane therapy of adrenal cancer – use and controversy. N Engl J Med. 356:2415-2418.

Seth R, Webster E, Mackay D. 2008. Continued development of a mass balance model of chemical fate in a sewage treatment plant. Water Res. 42:595-604.

Shenker A, Laue L, Kosugi S, Merendino JJ, Minegishi T, Cutler GB. 1993. A constitutively activating mutation of the luteinizing hormone receptor in familial male precocious puberty. Nature. 265:652-654.

SimpleTreat [sewage treatment plant removal model]. 1997. Ver. 3.0. Bilthoven (NL): National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM). National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM), Laboratory for Ecological Risk Assessment, PO Box 1, 3720 BA Bilthoven, The Netherlands.

[STP-EX] Sewage Treatment Plant Expanded Model. 2008. Windsor (ON): University of Windsor, Dept. of Civil and Environmental Engineering. [model described in Seth et al. 2008].

Sun P, Blanchard P, Brice K, Hites RA. 2006. Atmospheric organochlorine pesticide concentrations near the great lakes: Temporal and spatial trends. Environ Sci Technol 40:6587-6593.

Suntio LR, Shiu WY, Mackay D, Seiber JN, Glotfelty D. 1988. Critical review of Henry's Law constants for pesticides. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol. 103:1-59.

Tanner DQ, Lee KK. 2004. Organochlorine pesticides in the Johnson Creek Basin, Oregon, 1988-2002. Scientific Investigations Report 2004-5061. Denver (CO): US Geological Survey.

[TaPL3] Long Range Transport and Persistence Level III Model. 2000. Ver. 2.10. Peterborough (ON): Trent University, Canadian Centre for Environmental Modelling and Chemistry.

http://www.trentu.ca/academic/aminss/envmodel/models/TaPL3.html.

Terzolo M, Angeli A, Fassnacht M, Daffara F, Tauchmanova L, Conton PA, Rossetto R, Buci L, Sperone P, Grossrubatscher E, Reimondo G, Bollito E, Papotti M, Saeger W, Hahner S, Koschker AC, Arvat E, Ambrosi B, Loli P, Lombardi G, Mannelli M, Bruzzi P, Mantero F, Allolio B, Dogliotti L, Berruti A. 2007. Adjuvant mitotane treatment for adrenocortical carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 356:2372–2380.

Terzolo M, Pia A, Berruti A, Osella G, Ali A, Carbone V, Testa E, Dogliotti L, Angeli A. 2007. Low-dose monitored mitotane treatment achieves the therapeutic range with manageable side effects in patients with adrenocortical cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 85(6): 2234-2238.

Thompson S, Budzinski H, Garrigues P, Narbonne JF. 1999. Comparison of PCB and DDT distribution between water-column and sediment-dwelling bivalves in Arcachon Bay, France. Mar Pollut Bull. 38:655-662.

[TOPKAT] TOxicity Prediction by Komputer Assisted Technology [prediction module]. 2004. Ver. 6.2. San Diego (CA): Accelrys Software Inc. http://www.accelrys.com/products/topkat/index.html.

Trent University. 2002. Biomagnification and bioaccumulation of organochlorine compounds in marine mammals. http://www.biology.duke.edu/bio217/2002/pcb/DDT.htm.

Turgut C, Gokbulut C, Cutright TJ. 2009. Contents and sources of DDT impurities in dicofol formulations in Turkey. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int. 16:214-217.

[UNEP] United Nations Environmental Program. 2001. Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs). Text and annexes, as amended in 2009. Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants. Geneva (CH). http://chm.pops.int/.

University of Michigan – Comprehensive Cancer Center. 2010. Adrenal cancer. http://www.cancer.med.umich.edu/cancertreat/endocrine/adrenal cancer.shtml.

Urieta I, Jalon M, Eguileor I. 1996. Food surveillance in the Basque Country (Spain). II. Estimation of the dietary intake of organochlorine pesticides, heavy

metals, arsenic, aflatoxin M1, iron and zinc through the total diet study, 1990/91. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess. 13:29-52.

[US FDA] United States Food and Drug Administration. 2009. LYSODREN (mitotane tablets, USP), Lysodren Label Information, Label approved 02/10/2009, NDA 16-885/S-023, p. 3-8. [accessed 2010 Aug 30]. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2009/016885s023lbl.pdf.

[USGS] United States Geological Survey. 2000. Organic chemical concentrations and reproductive biomarkers in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) collected from two areas in Lake Mead, Nevada. http://pubs.usgs.gov/ds/2007/286/pdf/ds286.pdf.

[USGS] United States Geological Survey. 2002. The National Water Quality Assessment Program. Pesticides and organic compounds detected in composite samples (whole fish) of largemouth bass and Florida Gar at 15 sites in southern Florida, August through December, 1995. http://sofia.usgs.gov/sfrsf/entdisplays/nawqa/.

[USP] United States Pharmacopeial Convention, Inc. MSDS Mitotane. Rockville (MD). CCOHS MSDS database [accessed 2008 Aug 8]. http://ccinfoweb2.ccohs.ca/msds/Action.lasso?-database=msds&-layout=Display&-response=detailframe.html&-recordID=13316850&-search.

Vaughan ED Jr. 2004. Diseases of the adrenal gland. Med Clin North Am. 88:443-466.

Wallace EZ, Silverstein JN, Villadolid LS, Weisenfeld S. 1961. Cushing's syndrome due to adrenocortical hyperplasia. Treatment with an inhibitor of andrenocortical secretions. N Engl J Med. 265:1088-1093 [cited in EHC 1979].

Wandiga SO, Jumba IO, Mutaaga WG, Lalah JO. 2003. The distribution, metabolism and toxicity of ¹⁴c-DDT in model aquarium tanks with fish and sediment simulating a tropical marine environment. Toxicol Environ Chem. 85(4-6):253-268.

Wania F. 2006. Assessing the potential of persistent organic chemicals for longrange transport and accumulation in polar regions. Environ Sci Technol. 37(7):1344-1351.

Wehr JD, Sheath RG. 2002. Freshwater algae of North America ecology and classification. San Diego (CA): Academic Press.

Wolfe NL, Zepp RG, Paris DF, Baughman GL, Hollis RC. 1977. Methoxychlor and DDT degradation in water: rates and products. Environ Sci Technol. 11(12):1077-1081.

Wong CS, Capel PD, Nowell, LH. 2000. National-scale, field-based evaluation of the biota-sediment accumulation factor model. Environ Sci Technol. 35(9):1709-1715.

Wooten M, King D. 1993. Adrenal cortical carcinoma: Epidemiology and treatment with mitotane and a review of the literature. Cancer. 72(11):3145-3155 [cited in ATSDR 2002].

[WSKOWWIN] Water Solubility for Organic Compounds Program for Microsoft Windows [estimation model]. 2008. Ver. 1.41. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/epi-suitetm-estimation-program-interface.

Appendices

Appendix A. PBT model input summary tables

Table A-1. PBT model input summary table for physical-chemical models

Model input parameters	EPI Suite (all models, including AOPWIN, KOCWIN, BCFBAF, BIOWIN and ECOSAR)
SMILES code	CIC(CI)C(c1ccc(CI)cc1)c2c cccc2CI
Molecular weight (g/mol)	320.05
Melting point (°C)	77
Boiling point (°C)	NA
Data temperature (°C)	NA
Vapour pressure (Pa)	2.51E-3
Henry's law constant (Pa·m³/mol)	8.035
log K _{aw} (dimensionless)	NA
log K _{ow} (dimensionless)	6.22
K _{ow} (dimensionless)	NA
log K _{oc} (L/kg)	NA
Water solubility (mg/L)	0.1
log K _{oa} (dimensionless)	NA

Abbreviations: Kaw, air–water partition coefficient; Koa, octanol–air partition coefficient; Koc, organic carbon–water partition coefficient; Kow, octanol–water partition coefficient; SMILES, simplified molecular input line entry system; NA, not applicable

Table A-2. PBT model input summary table for fate modelling

Model input parameters	STP (1) ASTreat (2) SimpleTreat (3) (required inputs are different, depending on model)	EQC (required inputs are different if Type I vs. Type II chemical)	Arnot- Gobas BCF/BAF Model
SMILES code	NA	NA	NA
Molecular weight (g/mol)	320.05	320.05	NA
Melting point (°C)	NA	77	NA
Boiling point (°C)	NA	NA	NA
Data temperature (°C)	NA	20	NA
Vapour pressure (Pa)	2.51E-3	2.51E-3	NA
Henry's law constant (Pa·m³/mol)	8.035	8.035	NA
log K _{aw} (dimensionless)	NA	NA	NA
log K _{ow} (dimensionless)	6.22	6.22	6.22
K _{ow} (dimensionless)	NA	NA	NA
log K _{oc} (L/kg)	NA	NA	NA
Water solubility (mg/L)	0.1	0.1	0.1
log K _{oa} (dimensionless)			NA
Soil-water partition coefficient (L/kg) ^a	NA	NA	NA
Sediment–water partition coefficient (L/kg) ^a	NA	NA	NA
Suspended particles—water partition coefficient (L/kg) ^a	NA	NA	NA
Fish-water partition coefficient (L/kg) ^b	NA	NA	NA
Aerosol–water partition coefficient (dimensionless) ^c	NA	NA	NA
Vegetation–water partition coefficient (dimensionless) ^a	NA	NA	NA
Enthalpy (Kow)	NA	NA	NA
Enthalpy (K _{aw})	NA	NA	NA
Half-life in air (days)	NA	59.1	NA
Half-life in water (days)	NA	4320	NA
Half-life in sediment (days)	NA	38900	NA

Model input parameters	STP (1) ASTreat (2) SimpleTreat (3) (required inputs are different, depending on model)	EQC (required inputs are different if Type I vs. Type II chemical)	Arnot- Gobas BCF/BAF Model
Half-life in soil (days)	NA	4320	NA
Half-life in vegetation (days) ^d	NA	NA	NA
Metabolic rate constant (1/day)	NA	NA	0.0155
Biodegradation rate constant (1/day or 1/h) – specify	0.0001 h ⁻¹	NA	NA
Biodegradation half-life in primary clarifier $(t_{\frac{1}{2}-p})$ (h)	10000	NA	NA
Biodegradation half-life in aeration vessel $(t_{\frac{1}{2}-s})$ (h)	10000	NA	NA
Biodegradation half-life in settling tank $(t_{\frac{1}{2}-s})$ (h)	10000	NA	NA

Abbreviations: BCF, bioconcentration factor; Kaw, air-water partition coefficient; Koa, octanol-air partition coefficient; Koc, organic carbon–water partition coefficient; Kow, octanol–water partition coefficient; SMILES, simplified molecular input line entry system; NA, not applicable

a Derived from log Koc.
b Derived from BCF data.

Default value.

Derived from half-life in water.

Appendix B. Upper-bounding estimates of mitotane exposure to the general population of Canada from environmental media

Table B-1. Upper-bounding estimates of mitotane exposure to the general population of Canada from environmental media

Estimated intake (µg/kg-bw per day)	Ambient air ⁱ	Indoor air ^j	Drinking water ^k	Food/ Beverage s ^l	Soil ^m	Total intake
0-6 months ^{a,b,c} – breast fed	3.85 x 10 ⁻⁵	2.70 x 10 ⁻⁵	0.00	0.00	1.6 x 10 ⁻³	1.63 x 10 ⁻³
0-6 months ^{a,b,c} – formula fed	3.85 x 10 ⁻⁵	2.70 x 10 ⁻⁵	2.13 x 10 ⁻	0.00	1.6 x 10 ⁻³	1.65 x 10 ⁻³
0-6 months ^{a,b,c} – not formula fed	3.85 x 10 ⁻⁵	2.70 x 10 ⁻⁵	1.64 x 10 ⁻³	0.00	1.6 x 10 ⁻³	1.64 x 10 ⁻³
0.5-4 years ^d	8.2 x10 ⁻⁶	5.78 x 10 ⁻⁵	9.03 x 10 ⁻	2.00 x 10 ⁻³	2.58 x 10 ⁻³	2.27 x 10 ⁻²
5-11 years ^e	6.43 x 10 ⁻⁶	4.50 x 10 ⁻⁵	7.10 x 10	1.52 x 10 ⁻²	8.39 x 10 ⁻⁴	1.61 x 10 ⁻²
12-19 years ^f	3.66 x 10 ⁻⁶	2.56 x 10 ⁻⁵	4.04 x 10 ⁻⁶	9.89 x 10 ⁻²	2.02 x 10 ⁻⁴	1.01 x 10 ⁻²
20-59 years ⁹	3.14 x 10 ⁻⁶	2.20 x 10 ⁻⁵	4.04 x 10 ⁻⁶	6.69 x 10 ⁻³	2.02 x 10 ⁻⁴	6.89 x 10 ⁻³
60+ years ^h	2.73 x 10 ⁻⁶	1.91 x 10 ⁻⁵	4.44 x 10 ⁻	4.06 x 10 ⁻³	1.67 x 10 ⁻⁴	4.25 x 10 ⁻³

a No information on mitotane in breast milk was identified.

^b Assumed to weigh 7.5 kg, to breathe 2.1 m³ of air per day, to drink 0.8 L of water per day (formula fed) or 0.3 L/day (not formula fed) and to ingest 30 mg of soil per day (Health Canada 1998).

For exclusively formula-fed infants, intake from water is synonymous with intake from food. No data on concentrations of mitotane in formula were identified for Canada.

Assumed to weigh 15.5 kg, to breathe 9.3 m³ of air per day, to drink 0.7 L of water per day and to ingest 100 mg of soil per day (Health Canada 1998).

Assumed to weigh 31.0 kg, to breathe 14.5 m³ of air per day, to drink 1.1 L of water per day and to ingest 65 mg of soil per day (Health Canada 1998).

Assumed to weigh 59.4 kg, to breathe 15.8 m³ of air per day, to drink 1.2 L of water per day and to

Assumed to weigh 59.4 kg, to breathe 15.8 m° of air per day, to drink 1.2 L of water per day and to ingest 30 mg of soil per day (Health Canada 1998).

9 Assumed to weigh 70.9 kg, to breathe 16.2 m³ of air per day, to drink 1.5 L of water per day and to

Assumed to weigh 70.9 kg, to breathe 16.2 m³ of air per day, to drink 1.5 L of water per day and to ingest 30 mg of soil per day (Health Canada 1998).
 Assumed to weigh 72.0 kg, to breathe 14.3 m³ of air per day, to drink 1.6 L of water per day and to

[&]quot; Assumed to weigh 72.0 kg, to breathe 14.3 m³ of air per day, to drink 1.6 L of water per day and to ingest 30 mg of soil per day (Health Canada 1998).

Based on the maximum concentration of mitotane detected (110 pg/m³) in air collected from 72 cm above agricultural soils in southern Ontario (Kurt-Karakus et al. 2006). Canadians are assumed to spend 3 hours outdoors each day (Health Canada 1998).

No reported data for the concentration of mitotane in indoor air were identified. The concentration for ambient air (110 pg/m³) reported by Kurt-Karakus et al. (2006) was used as a surrogate for indoor air. Canadians are assumed to spend 21 hours indoors each day (Health Canada 1998).

There were no reported data for the concentration of mitotane in foods in Canada. As a surrogate, the maximum reported concentration of mitotane in fish collected from Great Lakes influenced rivers in the USA (81.7 μ g/kg wet weight; Giesy et al. 1994) and the maximum concentration reported in cheese from Spain (78 μ g/kg; Bentabol and Jodral 1995) were used. Amounts of foods consumed on a daily basis by each age group are described by Health Canada (1998).

Based on the reported concentration of mitotane (400 ng/g) detected in agricultural soils in southern Ontario (Kurt-Karakus et al. 2006).

No data for mitotane in drinking water were identified. As a surrogate, the maximum concentration of 0.0002 μg/L reported for mitotane in surface water in the Okanagan Valley and Fraser Valley, Canada between 2003, and 2005 was used (Environment Canada 2009a).

Appendix C. Summary of health effects information for mitotane

The following acronyms apply to Appendix C.

LD50 = median lethal dose

LOAEL = lowest-observed-adverse-effect level

LOEL = lowest-observed-effect level

Appendix C-1. Experimental animals and in vitro

Acute toxicity:

Lowest oral LD₅₀ (rat, mouse) > 4000 mg/kg-bw (Gaines 1969; RTECS 2009). Other oral LD₅₀ (guinea pig) > 5000 mg/kg-bw (RTECS 2009). Lowest dermal LD₅₀ (rabbit) > 1200 mg/kg-bw (Lehman 1951).

Short-term repeated-dose toxicity:

Lowest oral LOAEL = 4 mg/kg-bw per day based on gross atrophy of the adrenal glands and degeneration of the cells of its inner cortex in dogs exposed via the diet to o,p'-DDD for four days (number and sex of animals and other doses used were not specified in secondary source) (Cueto and Brown 1958).

Other oral LOAEL = 50 mg/kg-bw per day based on decrease in contractile force of the heart and plasma volume in dogs exposed orally to *o,p'*-DDD for 14 days (breed and sex not specified; no further details provided). According to the author, the reduction of plasma volume may have been caused by a loss of fluid from intravascular compartment and was not caused by a release of histamine (Cueto 1970).

Other oral LOAEL = 121 mg/kg-bw per day based on atrophy of both the adrenal cortex and the thymolymphatic organs in Sprague-Dawley male rats (20/group) exposed via the diet to 0 or 121 mg/kg-bw per day o,p'-DDD for 16 days. Diminished body weights as well as the weights in the thymus, spleen and adrenal glands were observed. There was minimal fatty infiltration of the liver. No changes could be detected in the kidneys, heart and lungs. The numbers of plaque-forming cells (PFC) and rosette-forming cells (RFC) in the spleen and thymus were lower compared to controls. One group receiving protein-deficient diet (referred as malnourished rats) showed diminution of plasma corticosteroid concentration and less impairment of the immune response. The number of PFC and RFC in the spleen and thymus of the o,p'-DDD treated malnourished rats were almost equal to control (Hamid et al. 1974).

Other oral LOAEL = 138.5 mg/kg based on damage to the zona fasciculata and reticularis in dogs (4) exposed orally to 138.5 mg/kg-bw/day (capsule) of o,p'-DDD for 10 days. Plasma levels of cortisol were decreased and a decreased

response to ACTH stimulation was also observed. In one animal, there was hemorrhage, invasion by lymphocytes, and necrosis of the adrenal cortex. No changes in the spleen and the liver were seen (Kirk et al. 1974).

Subchronic toxicity

Lowest oral LOAEL = 0.6 mg/kg-bw per day based on Leydig cell tumours reported in the testis of rats exposed orally to o,p'-DDD for 285–348 days (other doses not specified; no further details provided) (Lacassagne 1971).

Oral LOAEL = 50 mg/kg-bw per day based on adrenocortical necrosis in mongrel dogs (10 animals, sex of animals not specified) orally exposed to 50 mg/kg-bw/day of *o,p'*-DDD tablets for 36–150 days. Necrosis involved primarily the zona fasciculata and zona reticularis although the zona glumerulosa was partially or completely necrotic. Minute foci resembling hemorrhagic lesions were noted on the retina of five treated dogs; however, no retinal lesions were identified (Kirk and Jensen 1975).

Dermal LOAEL = 200 mg/kg-bw per day based on severe effects (but no deaths) in rabbits exposed dermally to 0, 200 or 400 mg/kg-bw per day of TDE (isomer not specified) for 90 days. Dose of 400 mg/kg-bw was lethal to all rabbits after 6 days (Lehman 1951).

Chronic toxicity/ carcinogenicity

Lowest Oral LOAEL = 5 mg/kg-bw based on tissue damage in rats exposed via the diet to 0, 5 or 20 mg/kg-bw per day of TDE (isomer not specified) for 104 weeks. Liver enlargement was observed at the highest dose (Lehman 1952).

Other oral LOAEL = 50 mg/kg-bw based on atrophy of adrenal cortex and fatty liver in dogs exposed via the diet to 0, 50 or 80 mg/kg-bw per day of TDE (isomer not specified) until death (last death occurred at day 990 for the highest dose) (Lehman 1952).

Developmental toxicity

Groups of 13 female Sprague-Dawley rats were bred and exposed by gavage to 0 or 10 mg/kg-bw per day of *o,p'*-DDD during gestation days 15 to 19. Pups derived therefrom were used in two experiments. All animals were weaned at 21 days of age. Maternal toxicity of mitotane was not assessed in this study.

Developmental LOEL = 10 mg/kg-bw per day based on slight, but significant delay (2 days) in vaginal opening of offspring derived from Sprague-Dawley dams. No significant effects on body weight, weight of ovaries and pituitary or estrous cycle were observed in offspring at 49, 111 and 209 days of life.

From the same study, female rats derived from the mating (12/group) were treated subcutaneously with 0 or 1 mg/kg-bw *o,p'*-DDD on second, third and fourth day of life. They showed persistent vaginal estrus by 209 days of age and absence of corpora lutea by 258 days of age (Gellert and Heinrichs 1975).

Reproductive toxicity

No reproductive toxicity studies were identified.

Genotoxicity and related endpoints: in vivo

Unscheduled DNA Synthesis:

Positive: in lung of C57B1 mouse; single intraperitoneal injection at 0, 100 or 500 mg/kg-bw. Negative results were observed in the liver (Lund et al. 1990).

Genotoxicity and related endpoints: in vitro

Gene mutation

Negative: Salmonella typhimurium, strains TA98, TA100, TA1535 and TA1537

with and without metabolic activation (Mortelmans et al. 1986).

Negative: Salmonella typhimurium, strains TA98 and TA100 with mouse lung and

liver S9 metabolic activation (Lund et al. 1990).

Host-mediated assay

Negative: Salmonella typhimurium his G46 without metabolic activation (unspecified isomer of TDE) (Buselmaier et al. 1972).

Chromosomal aberration (Cytogenetic assay)

Negative: Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells with or without metabolic activation (Galloway et al. 1987).

Positive: kangaroo rat cells without metabolic activation (not tested with metabolic activation) (Palmer et al. 1972).

In vitro transformation assay

Negative: mouse embryo cells without metabolic activation (unspecified isomer of TDE) (Langenbach and Gingell 1975).

Unscheduled DNA synthesis assays (UDS)

Negative: Rat, mouse and hamster hepatocytes without metabolic activation (hepatocytes capable of metabolic activation; unspecified isomer of TDE) (Maslansky and Williams 1981).

Negative: Rodent hepatocytes without metabolic activation (Lund et al. 1990).

Sister chromatid exchange:

Negative: Chinese hamster cells with and without metabolic activation (Galloway et al. 1987).

Sensitization and irritation

No sensitization or irritation studies were identified.

Appendix C-2. Human studies – clinical studies

Side effects in patients treated with mitotane were observed at doses between 110 and 140 mg/kg-bw. Significant anorexia and nausea and central nervous system depression varying from lethargy to somnolence were observed in patients treated with mitotane (sex and number of patients were not specified in secondary source). The compound did not produce any detectable injury to the liver, kidney or bone marrow. Toxic effects cleared when dosing was discontinued. The testes (including Leydig cells) were not investigated (Bergenstal et al. 1960).

Large doses of mitotane (1000 to 12 000 mg/kg-bw/day) induced fatigue, nausea, anorexia, vomiting and diarrhoea in patients with Cushing's syndrome and adrenocortical carcinoma (sex and number of patients were not specified in secondary source) and exposed at doses of 1000 to 12 000 mg per day for up to 34 months. The testes (including Leydig cells) were not investigated (Hoffman and Mattox 1972; Luton et al. 1979). The symptoms disappeared soon after administration of the drug ceased or when the dosage was reduced (Perevodcikova et al. 1972).